Department of Neurobiology, Care Sciences and Society Division of Occupational Therapy Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

Navigating in a changing world:

Experiences of everyday life from the perspective of persons with cognitive impairment or dementia

Annika Öhman



Published by Karolinska Institutet.

© Annika Öhman, 2007 ISBN 978-91-7357-132-6

Published and printed by

REPROPRINT AB
STOCKHOIM 2007

www.reproprint.se

Gårdsvägen 4, 169 70 Solna

ABSTRACT

The overall aim of this thesis was to enhance the knowledge of how people with cognitive impairment or dementia experience, approach, and manage the consequences of illness in the context of everyday occupations. Listening to the subjective experiences of people with cognitive impairment or dementia, who live in their own homes, can generate a deepened knowledge of their living conditions. This knowledge might support occupation-based interventions contributing to the well-being of people with dementia.

The thesis includes four studies. The participants were persons with cognitive impairment or dementia. **Study I** focused on nine persons' work situations and the attitudes of seven workplace respondents. In **Study II**, the motives and meaning of everyday occupations of six persons with Alzheimer's disease were explored. In **Studies III** and **IV**, awareness of dementia in the context of occupations was investigated from two perspectives. These were the use of a phenomenological approach to the lived experiences of six persons with AD, and measurement of the relationship between occupational performance and awareness of disability in 35 older adults with cognitive impairment, AD, and other dementias. **Studies I-III** used qualitative interviews and observations that were analyzed with a constant comparative method (**Studies I-II**), and a phenomenological method (**Study III**). In **Study IV**, data were collected with the AMPS and the AAD and analyzed with descriptive, nonparametric statistics.

The findings in **Study I** showed that the possibility of remaining at work seemed to depend on multiple factors, including the individuals' apprehended ability to work and the length of the sick leave. A great variety of personal motives and meanings of everyday occupations were found in **Study II.** Identifying and supporting these occupations might contribute to the well-being of persons with AD living at home. A structure of awareness of disability was described in **Study III** with two main characteristics. These were discovering and managing changes in occupational and social interactions, and reflecting on a changing life situation. The results of **Study IV** showed a positive relationship between occupational performance and awareness of disability, where participants with AD were less able and less aware than participants with MCI. However, there was a large variation in awareness of disability within the diagnostic groups.

In conclusion, the findings of these studies showed that everyday occupations held a variation of individual meaning for the participants, and provided them with an important arena for experiencing and expressing changes. Supporting persons to continue with occupations of individual meaning for as long as this is experienced as beneficial by the person with dementia was highlighted as an important task in care. Their perceptions of changes in everyday occupations were intertwined with their experiences of being ill, but their understanding of the illness was difficult to integrate with the changes they experienced. Furthermore, the findings showed that people with dementia may be sensitive to other peoples' perceptions of them. This might be of importance in their own views of their situation, and hence significant for how to approach persons with dementia in clinical practice. Finally, a multidimensional approach using both interviews and measures is suggested to capture awareness in people with cognitive impairment or dementia.

Key words: activity, dementia, occupation, occupational therapy, work, awareness of disability

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- Öhman, A., Nygård, L. & Borell. L. (2001). The vocational situation in cases of memory deficits or younger-onset dementia. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 15, 34-43.
- II. Öhman, A., & Nygård, L. (2005). Meanings and motives for engagement in self-shosen daily life occupations among individuals with Alzheimer's disease.
 OTJR: Occupation, Participation and Health, 25 (3), 89-97.*
- III. Öhman, A., Josephsson, S., & Nygård, L. Awareness through interaction in everyday occupations: experiences of people with Alzheimer's disease.Accepted for publication in *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*.
- **IV.** Öhman, A., Nygård, L. & Kottorp, A. The relationship between occupational performance and awareness of disability in older adults with cognitive impairment or dementia. Submitted.

Previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publishers.

^{*} Reprinted with permission from the American Occupational Therapy Foundation. Previously published, in OTJR: Occupation, Participation and Health, Volume 25, Issue 3, pages 89-97.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	
CONTENTS	
INTRODUCTION	1
Cognitive Impairment and dementia	2
Dementia and everyday life occupations	4
Occupational therapy	6
Supporting everyday life occupations	7
The perspective of the person with dementia	10
Awareness is dementia	12
RESEARCH AIMS	15
METHODS	
Participants and criteria for selection	16
Data collection	19
Data analysis	24
ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	27
FINDINGS	29
GENERAL DISCUSSION	
Main findings	33
Experiences of everyday occupations	
Meaning and significance of occupations	34
Everyday occupations as an arena	36
The experience of being ill	38
Significance of other people and social interaction	39
Awareness in people with dementia	41
Methodological considerations	43
CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS	48
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	50
REFERENCES	52

PAPERS I-IV

INTRODUCTION

".....everyone grows old eventually, even if this is rather early. And I don't know, I would like to hear about,.... But how sick are you when you have this [talking about Alzheimer's disease]? It's so difficult to be healthy and still being sick."

["..... det är ju klart att alla åldras ju till slut, även om det är ganska tidigt. Och jag vet inte, jag skulle vilja höra,.... men hur sjuk är man när man har sånt här? Det är ju så väldigt svårt att vara frisk och ändå vara sjuk."]

This quote illustrates the point of departure for this thesis, which is an endeavor to shed light on some of the experiences of dementia from the perspective of those actually living with it. The quotation is from a research interview with a man in his 60s, who had been diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease a couple of years before. He lived at home with the support of his family, still maintaining his routines and interests in daily life but with limited possibilities to practice them due to the progression of the illness. He was well aware of his condition but had a hard time incorporating this knowledge with the way he depicted and perceived himself. In his mind, he was still the same man as he had always been, but now with a strange and intrusive illness that made the world sometimes appear to be changed, and he tried to navigate in this world where even the simple tasks of everyday occupations were a challenging to him.

This thesis explores the experiences of living with impaired cognition or dementia from the perspective of the person, and the consequences to everyday life occupations brought about by the illness with particular focus on the occupational dimension. The thesis incorporates different aspects of the persons' everyday life with this condition, such as everyday occupations, work, and social interactions. The studies aim to broaden the knowledge about persons with cognitive impairment or dementia by including their perspective in research, from the standpoint of occupational therapy. In the early 90s, Cotrell and Schultz (1993) suggested that the perspective of the person with dementia was a neglected field of dementia research. Since then, a growing body of literature has emphasized the importance of including the subjective experiences of persons with dementia in research (Hughes, Louw & Sabat, 2006; Kitwood, 1997a). Turning attention to the persons' own experiences is expected to

generate a deepened knowledge of the living conditions of people with dementia that might support the development of supportive interventions, particularly in the early phase while they still are living at home. By juxtaposing different perspectives and methodologies, this thesis has the ambition of contributing to this growing body of knowledge. Before turning our attention to the issue in focus – that is, how people with cognitive impairment or dementia experience, approach, and manage the consequences of their illness – some medical conditions need to be clarified.

COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT AND DEMENTIA

The past two decades of extensive research have expanded the understanding of cognitive impairment and dementia and provided important knowledge on the origin and course of the diseases as well as advances in early detection and advances in medical treatments (Overshott & Burns, 2005; Yaffe, 2005). To get a comprehensive picture of cognitive impairment and dementia, a brief overview of the magnitude of occurrence and course of these is given in the following.

Dementia is known to increase disability and mortality in the older population with an expanding need for support and a shortened life expectancy (Agüero-Torres, Fratiglioni & Winblad, 1998; Ritchie & Lovestone, 2002). The number of people with dementia diseases is considered to be growing and dementia is one cause of economic strain in healthcare in western countries with aging populations (Wimo, Jonsson & Winblad, 2006). The worldwide occurrence of dementia was estimated at about 27.7 million persons in 2003 (Wimo et al., 2006). In Sweden in 2003, the estimated number of persons diagnosed with dementia was between 110 000 – 140 000 (Socialdepartementet, 2003).

Today there is a consensus favoring early diagnosis of dementia diseases (Waldemar et al., 2007). Establishing a diagnosis has been found to be crucial for early support as it provides the person and his or her family with the information needed to adjust and take necessary actions (Husband, 1999, Robinson, 2000). Sets of diagnostic criteria are used to establish

diagnoses; commonly used sets are DSM-IV-TR (American Psychiatric Association, 2000), ICD-10 (World Health Organization, 1993) and the NINCDS-ADRDA (McKhann et al., 1984). The most common form of dementia is Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Cummings & Cole, 2002) with about 60 -70 % of the cases of dementia in older adults. Old age is the most important risk factor for AD (Mohs, 2005). Other types of dementia are vascular dementia, dementia with Lewy bodies, and frontotemporal dementia (Grossman, Bergmann & Parker, 2006).

Alzheimer's disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder that leads to cortical and subcortical dysfunction, resulting in a complex cognitive decline (Ritchie & Lovestone, 2002). The hallmark of AD is a gradual onset of cognitive deficits including memory impairment, aphasia, apraxia, disturbances in visuospatial skills and disturbance in executive functioning (such as planning and judgment) (APA, 2000; Cummings & Cole, 2002). The cognitive deficits cause impairment in social or occupational functioning and represent a significant decline from the previous level of functioning (APA, 2000; McKhann et al, 1984). Symptoms such as apathy and agitation become increasingly common as the illness advance. Cummings (2003) showed that depression symptoms were present in approximately 50% of AD cases.

Mild Cognitive Impairment

Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) has been in focus in research on aging and dementia during the past few years and is described as a clinical condition between normal aging and AD, not yet meeting the currently accepted criteria for AD (Petersen et al., 2001). However, in this thesis, *cognitive impairment* is used to characterize persons with cognitive impairments but not dementia as established through a diagnostic evaluation, the reason being that the thesis also incorporates persons diagnosed with cognitive impairment before the concept of MCI was clinically established. At the international First Key Symposium on MCI, the following general criteria for MCI were recommended: cognitive complaint not normal for age and not demented, cognitive decline (self and/or informant report and impairment on objective cognitive tasks and/or evidence of decline over time on objective cognitive tasks) and preserved basic activities on daily living/minimal impairment in complex instrumental

functions (Winblad et al., 2004). However, the criteria have been challenged to incorporate the possibility of changes in complex everyday life activities (Artero, Petersen, Touchon & Ritchie, 2006; Nygård, 2003). For example, IADL activities, such as money management, have been found to be impaired in people with MCI (Griffith et al., 2003; Pérès et al., 2006; Perneczky et al., 2006a; Toukko, Morris & Ebert, 2005). The diagnosis of MCI is used both clinically and in research and is looked upon as a risk factor for the development of dementia, but could also be stable or even regress (Visser, Kester, Jolles, & Verhey, 2007; Winblad et al., 2004). In spite of the abundance of literature on MCI, very little is known about the experiences of people living with MCI.

In this thesis, both persons with dementia in a mild to moderate stage (WHO, 1993), and persons with cognitive impairment or MCI are included, as the research issue is the experiences of everyday life occupations in people with these conditions.

DEMENTIA AND EVERYDAY LIFE OCCUPATIONS

Everyday life encompasses a variation of occupations that become increasingly difficult when having a dementia disease (APA, 2000; Hartman, Fisher & Duran, 1999). Familiar occupations, also referred to as instrumental activities in daily life (IADL), such as using the telephone, shopping for groceries, driving, or taking care of finances become gradually more difficult (MacQuarrie, 2005; Nygård & Starkhammar, 2003; Wild & Cotrell, 2003). A variation of spontaneous and planned strategies to manage everyday occupations are used by the person with dementia while he or she eventually becomes more dependent on support from a spouse or other people in daily life occupations (Gitlin, Corcoran, Winter, Boyce, & Hauck, 2001; Vikström, Josephsson, Stigsdotter-Neely, & Nygård, submitted). Eventually, the ability to perform personal activities of daily life (PADL) will also be influenced, e.g., grooming and dressing (Leifer, 2003). The influence of dementia on caregivers and other people close to the person with dementia, such as children and relatives, leading to a strained situation, are also well documented (Chappell & Reid, 2002; Corcoran et al., 2002; Tindall & Manthorpe, 1997).

It is not clear when in the illness progression the very first occupational difficulties occur or when they can be identified through clinical assessments, but several studies show that changes in complex everyday activities can be observed or experienced before a dementia diagnosis can be established (Artero et al., 2006; Perneczky et al., 2006b; Toukko, Morris & Ebert, 2005). Some studies indicate that more complex occupations, such as work tasks, are influenced as one of the first indications of cognitive impairment (Reed, Cantley, Clarke, & Stanley, 2002; Robinson, 2000; Seidler et al., 2004). Most persons with cognitive deficits or dementia are elderly (i.e., over the age of 65), but about 1 % of them are under the age of 65 (Socialstyrelsen, 2003; Wimo, et al., 2003). The course of dementia in younger people is described as different in comparision to older people with dementia (Reed et al., 2002; Tindall & Manthorpe, 1997). Younger adults are more likely to be working, having a parenting role and be more physically able (Beattie, Daker-White, Gilliard, & Means, 2002; Reed et al., 2002). The diagnosis of dementia in younger people is described as more unexpected and hence, it could be perceived as more stigmatizing by the person when compared to having dementia in old age (Tindall & Manthorpe, 1997). Separate and specially tailored services have been suggested for younger persons with dementia and their caregivers, based on their special needs (Reed et al., 2002; Robinson, 2000; Tindall & Manthorpe, 1997).

In general, it has been made very clear that dementia has a decisive influence on the afflicted persons' everyday life occupations. Persons with cognitive impairment or dementia continue to live in their homes in spite of their increasing difficulties after receiving diagnosis, with the support from family. Currently there is no cure for dementia, but medical treatment may temporarily improve the symptoms and the performance of ADL/IADL (Kawas, 2003; Overshott & Burns, 2005; Ritchie & Lovestone, 2002). Non-drug therapies for dementia, including approaches such as music therapy, reminiscence therapy, memory training, reality orientation, and validation therapy, have been suggested as possible interventions to delay illness progression, to influence the symptoms of dementia and improve abilities (Gori, Pientini, & Vespa, 2001; Gräsel, Wiltfang & Kornhuber, 2003; Kasl-Godley & Gatz, 2000). However, such benefits of these non-drug therapies have not yet been proved (Gräsel, et al., 2003).

Occupational therapy interventions are another type of non-drug treatment, used to facilitate and support everyday life occupations in these persons and their caregivers. In the following, the thesis' theoretical standpoint of departure concerning occupations will be presented, as well as occupational therapy interventions for people with dementia.

OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY

Occupational therapy enables the clients to achieve their goals by helping them to overcome problems that limit their occupations. By that, they make a unique contribution to healthcare through the focus on the occupations of everyday life (Law & Baum, 2005). Therapy has the challenge of being the bridge between what has come before and what is to come when functioning in occupations is challenged (Hasselkus, 2002; Kielhofner, 1995).

Everyday occupations have a central position in occupational therapy and are defined as the ordinary and familiar things that people do every day (Christiansen, Clark, Kielhofner, & Rogers, 1995). Law, Polatajkon, Baptiste, and Townsend (1997, p. 30) defined occupations as activities of everyday life, named, organized, and given value and meaning by individuals and a culture. Occupation is everything people do to occupy themselves, including looking after themselves, enjoying life and contributing to the social and economic fabric of their communities. The definitions refer to what people do, and incorporate words of action (Hasselkus, 2002).

Moreover, occupation is not only everything we do in life, in terms of actions, tasks, activities, but also involves thinking and being (Law & Baum, 2005). Christiansen and Townsend (2004) stated that the terms *activity* or *task* are not synonymous with occupation; occupation is broader than either one of them. Whereas *tasks* or *activities* may fulfill specific purposes, occupations bring meaning to life (Law et al., 1997). This thesis accedes to the wider definition of occupation, as stated above. However, while the term occupation is used throughout the thesis, activity is sometimes used as this term commonly is in use in much literature on activities of daily living.

As the definition of occupation implies, what people do is not just about performance. Rather, occupational performance is the product of the dynamic relationship among persons, their occupations and life roles, and the environment in which they live (Kielhofner, 2002; Law et al., 1997). Through their occupations persons express who they are and the values they embrace (Law et al., 1997). In occupational therapy occupation is described as a basic human need and a determinant of health and well-being that develops and changes over a lifetime (Law et al., 1997). When illness or disability interferes with a person's ability to do things that are important to him or her, well-being can be diminished (Christiansen & Baum, 1997).

Given that dementia intrudes so extensively on performance of everyday occupations, knowledge of the occupational dimension of life with this disease seems to be necessary. From the point of departure presented above, knowledge about the mere ability to perform occupations is not enough when developing interventions in occupational therapy for these people: other qualities of occupations need to be taken into consideration.

SUPPORTING EVERYDAY LIFE OCCUPATIONS

In 1994, AOTA stated that occupational therapy can make important contributions to the care of persons in all stages of dementia by interventions aiming to maintain, restore and improve abilities, promote participation in activities, and to ease caregiver burden (American Occupational Therapy Association, 1994). The specific aim of occupational therapy for older people with dementia living in their own homes is to enhance and maintain independence in daily activities, their social participation, and quality of life (Steultjens et al., 2004).

Several authors have suggested interventions in addressing community-dwelling persons with dementia. Recently, Graff et al. (2006a, 2006b) showed evidence that occupational therapy interventions, with education for the caregivers, setting realistic goals, using adaptations of the physical environment, training compensatory skills and educational skills, can improve the daily performance, communication, sense of competence and quality of life for both the

person with dementia and his or her caregiver. Environmental interventions of adaptations combined with education for caregivers are also suggested to be effective in enhancing independence and sense of competence in both parts (Gitlin, Corcoran, Winter, Boyce, & Hauck, 2001; Graff et al., 2003; Josephsson, Bäckman, Borell, & Bernspång, 1995). It is suggested that individualized occupational therapy interventions can improve quality of life for the persons with dementia, but also the quality of life for their primary caregivers (Dooley & Hinojosa, 2004). Intervention programs to support everyday occupations in both parts have been presented (Baum & Edwards, 2003; Gitlin et al., 2002; Josephsson, Bäckman, Nygård, & Borell, 2000; Miller & Butin, 2000).

Assessments of occupational performance can be used to provide baseline data in planning interventions, but also to measure how people fulfill their roles in various dimensions of living, according to Ottenbacher and Christiansen (1997). As the functional capacity often determines whether or not a person with dementia can remain living at home, a thorough and detailed assessment of the persons' intellectual, behavioral and physical functioning is needed (Robinson & Fisher, 1999). However, conclusions based on tests on memory and cognition is not sufficient to predict functioning in everyday tasks, as shown in several studies (Reed, Jagust, & Seab, 1989; Robinson & Fisher, 1996, 1999). To gain a comprehensive picture of a person's abilities, it is important to evaluate the ability to perform activities of daily living (Hartman, Fisher & Duran, 1999).

In summary, the management of ADL/ IADL has received much attention in research. The desired outcomes of interventions in the home have received less attention by researchers. Bamford and Bruce (2000) identified the desired outcomes of community care for persons with dementia and their caregivers by interviewing service users at a research center. They found that the desired outcomes of community care were related to quality of life such as access to social contact, access to meaningful activities, maintaining a sense autonomy and personal identity, as well as to service process outcomes such as feeling valued and respected and having influence on the help provided. Based on these desired outcomes, occupational therapy has the potential to contribute to these people's well-being, given the perspective outlined in this thesis.

Epidemiological studies proposed that engaging in activities can decrease the risk of developing dementia (Karp et al., 2006; Scarmeas, Levy, Tang, Manly & Stern, 2001; Verghese et al., 2003). Since the results have received much public attention, they seem to have brought the significance of occupations among people who are diagnosed with dementia and their families to the fore. However, the significance of participation in activities when diagnosed with dementia is another issue, one that is less addressed in research. Participation in activities has been suggested by several authors as important in the care of persons with dementia to maintain abilities and enhance well-being (Brooker & Duce, 2000; Buettner & Kolanowski, 2003; Nolan, Grant & Nolan, 1995; Pulsford, 1997). Even if the benefits of activities are emphasized in research and in clinical practice, evidence is scarce and theoretical frameworks are often lacking (Marshall & Hutchinson, 2001).

In favor of choosing activities with a specific fit for persons with dementia, the point of departure of using occupations in therapeutic practice should be activities with an individual meaning to the person, Hasselkus and Rosa argued (1997). Moreover, they stated that because meaning represents an invisible dimension in occupations, the only way to learn about the meaning of our clients and to understand their situation is to ask them, to listen carefully, and to take the time necessary to do that. This, they said, might be a way to provide a therapeutic experience that fits into the larger context of the client's life, and hence can be the difference between success and failure in a therapy program (Hasselkus & Rosa, 1997).

All in all, this literature suggests that several aspects must be considered when providing support to people with dementia and their caregivers in the home. One aspect concerns the potential of everyday occupations to enhance the well-being of people with cognitive impairment or dementia through their experienced meanings, which has been studied here. Thus, the findings of the present thesis might be a valuable contribution to occupational therapy for persons with dementia.

THE PERSPECTIVE OF THE PERSON WITH DEMENTIA

The dominating paradigm in the research of persons with dementia has been biomedical and that has been very successful in exploring the diseases' causes and effects, developing medical treatments, and for examination of cognitive function (Sabat, 2001). In the discourse of dementia research, criticism has been raised, claiming that this view tends to neglect social factors involved in the attribution of behavior and in the experience of the illness (Lyman, 1989), as there is a tendency here to explain and treat all symptoms and behavior as medical problems (Bond & Corner, 2001; Cotrell & Schulz, 1993; Lyman, 1989). Such a view is not suitable when studying the variety of ways in which the disease may affect the experience of the person with dementia as he or she attempts to navigate through a world of dynamic social interaction (Sabat, 2001).

However, during the past decades there has been an increasing interest in the perspective of persons with dementia, challenging the notion of a fading personhood and dementia as a "loss of self" (Downs, 1997; Kitwood, 1997a; Sabat, 2001). Firsthand accounts of the experience of living with dementia have appeared supporting the view that the person with dementia is not simply a passive victim of impairment, but rather an active individual that tries to make sense of and deal with what is happening, actively seeking meaning, responding, and attempting to act on what they experience (Sabat & Harré, 1992; Woods, 2001). Research has been done including the persons' own experiences, as well as biographical descriptions of the persons' own experiences. Friel-McGowin (1993) described her own travel into the experience of Alzheimer's disease. In another autobiography Bryden (2005) described her struggle when meeting the challenges brought about by her illness together with her family and how she continues to lead an active life to remain as well as possible for as long as possible.

As a backlash to the biomedicalization of dementia, Kitwood (1997a) highlight the need to first of all see the person with dementia foremost in research, but above all in dementia care. The person-centered approach exemplified above emphasizes the importance of understanding the person's experience of living with and managing the difficulties so that healthcare services can build on their abilities and needs (Gillies, 2000, 2001; Woods, 2001). In a recent study, Langdon, Eagle & Warner (2006) concluded that persons with recently

diagnosed dementia were very sensitive to the responses of others and were well aware that other people adopted strategies to protect them. In addition, they also wanted to be treated as normally as possible. Studies also suggest that people with dementia might need support in their understanding of their own condition (Phinney, 2002; Robinson, 2000). Several studies have described how persons with dementia strive to cope with the onset of dementia (Clare, 2003; Pearce, Clare & Pistrang, 2002; Phinney, Wallhagen and Sands, 2002), indicating that this is a particularly important phase where support seem to be needed.

Research in the fields of caring science and psychology have targeted different aspects of living with dementia, such as subjective well-being and quality of life (Woods, 1999; Zank & Leipold, 2001), coping strategies (Pearce, Clare and Pistrang, 2002), and identity preservation (Beard, 2004; Smyth et al., 2002), whereas research in occupational therapy has paid attention to the experiences of everyday occupations. For example, Nygård, Borell and Gustavsson (1995) found that images of the occupational self in a changing occupational life could be demonstrated in different ways, and that these images provided a means for others to understand these persons' management of changes. Everyday occupations have also been found to offer a possibility to rest from the threat of dementia by engaging in individually chosen occupations (Nygård & Borell, 1998). Josephsson (1994) argued that everyday occupations could create an alternative meeting-place between the person with the dementia and the spouse, providing social interaction and meaningful communication in doing of things together. These findings raise the thought of other possible meanings of occupations that are individually self-chosen. As this may be important when using occupations therapeutically, further studies are needed.

Several authors have emphasized the importance of considering the perspective of the person with dementia in research and there is a growing body of knowledge of how dementia is experienced as expressed by the person with the illness (Downs, 1997; Marková, Clare, Wang, Romero, & Kenny, 2005). The specific problems of recollection and communication in persons with dementia might have contributed to the common exclusion of the persons themselves in dementia research (Bond & Corner, 2001; Hubbard, Downs & Tester, 2003). Qualitative research approaches have been suggested as a way to involve people with dementia. Kitwood (1997b) suggested several ways to get access to the subjective world of

dementia, through written accounts by people that have dementia, and through interviews, and listening to what people say in their everyday lives. Several authors point out that using a combination of interviews and observations with persons with dementia (Nygård, 2006, Hubbard et al., 2003; Sabat, 2003) provides a way to give voice to the subjective experiences of persons with dementia. However, when seeking ways to access the experiences of people with dementia, the issue of their awareness is highlighted. This is the issue discussed in the following section.

AWARENESS IN DEMENTIA

As discussed above, knowledge on the perspective of the person of dementia has developed during recent years, with the emphasis on bringing out the person's own perspective. However, as people with dementia generally are known to have increased awareness, this concept deserves some attention.

Commonly, unawareness of impairment or deficits is described as common in patients with Alzheimer's disease and dementia (Kazui et al., 2006; Mullen, Howard, David & Levy, 1996) and also in mild cognitive impairment (Onor, Trevisol, Negro & Aguglia, 2006; Vogel et al., 2004). An extensive field of literature concerning persons with dementia shows that the phenomenon of awareness is complex. Different terms and definitions are used in literature relating to *awareness*. Additionally, the terms are commonly used synonymously (Katz & Hartman-Maeir, 1997; Marková, et al., 2005). For example, Cotrell (1997) and Vogel et al. (2004) interchangeably use three terms: *unawareness of deficits*, *lack of insight*, and *anosognosia*. The terms all refer to impaired awareness of the consequences of the disease but with no unifying definition. The difficulty of finding a consensus of definitions could be a reflection of the complex construct of awareness and the underlying different perspectives (Marková et al., 2005). The literature argues that deficit awareness has an impact on caregiver burden, the occurrence of depression, increased risk of accidents and difficulties in daily functioning (Aalten, van Valen, Clare, Kenny, & Verhey, 2005; Feher, Mahurin & Inbody,

2006; Kazui et al., 2006) and some results show that the level of awareness decreases as dementia progresses (Aalten et al., 2006).

Awareness as a phenomenon could only be understood in relation to something; to be aware requires something to be aware of (Marková et al., 2005). Understanding the subjective experiences of developing dementia, the construction and expressions of how awareness is expressed has been explored in several studies (Clare, 2003; Langdon et al., 2007; Nygård & Borell, 1998; Phinney, 2002). For instance, it seems likely that a person needs to be aware of his or her difficulties at some level in order to consciously use strategies and consequently, also report their use of these strategies (Seiffer, Clare & Harvey, 2005). Marková et al. (2005) describes that there has been an increased interest in empirical studies on such awareness in several areas during the past decades, including stroke rehabilitation (Tham, Ginsburg, Fisher, & Tegnér, 2001), traumatic brain injury (Port, Willmott, & Charlton, 2002), and dementia (Clare et al., 2005).

However, as shown in the literature review and in the studies of this thesis, persons with cognitive impairment or dementia *could* elicit their perspective on having these conditions, indicating some awareness. As an approach to capturing and describing the experiences of persons with dementia, a life world perspective of phenomenology has been suggested (Clare et al., 2005), based on the phenomenological philosophy of Husserl (1970/1900-01). The life world represents the world that is experienced by us and from which we start to understand and describe our everyday world: it is the world we all live in and always taken for granted (Bengtsson, 2001; Karlsson, 1997). By examination of the lived experiences in the everyday life world we can gain access to the person's experienced reality. This may also open up for better understanding the issue of awareness in people with dementia.

When an illness fundamentally challenges a person's life world, such as in the case of dementia, the change in the life-world leads to the person starting to notice and reflect on the changes (Dahlberg, Drew, & Nyström, 2001). Phenomenological methods allow the researcher to enter into this experiential and changing world of the person with dementia, thereby offering a possibility to better understand the nature of his or her awareness and how it could be accessed. Marková and Berrios (2006) argued that awareness carries crucial

implications for the meaning of insight in different situations. Cotrell (1997) pointed out that awareness has clinical importance that calls for a more complete understanding of the effect it has on persons with dementia and their families. Consequently, if occupational therapy aims to increasing well-being for people with dementia, it is important to better understand in what ways they may be aware of their situations.

As previously mentioned, there has been some dispute on the traditional perspective of persons with dementia as being unaware of their difficulties. A growing body of literature points out awareness as taking place within a psychosocial context unequated with cognitive functioning alone (Clare et al., 2005; Downs, 2005). In all, the literature review on the perspective of the person demonstrates that everyday occupations need to be continuously explored, as this will guide our understanding of how these occupations could be apprehended, implied, and used therapeutically in interventions. This thesis has the ambition of expanding this knowledge by further enhancing the understanding of how persons experience and approach the consequences of their dementia in the context of everyday occupations.

RESEARCH AIMS

The overall aim of this thesis was to enhance the knowledge of how people with cognitive impairment or dementia experience, approach, and manage the consequences of illness in the context of everyday occupations.

The specific research aims were:

- To describe how persons with memory deficits or younger on-set dementia perceived and met their problems, with particular reference to their present and future vocational situation, including describing the parallel observations and attitudes of other significant persons in the vocational context (Study I).
- To uncover and describe the meanings and motives for engagement in self-chosen daily life occupations among community-dwelling individuals with Alzheimer's disease (Study II).
- To explore and describe the characteristics of the phenomenon awareness of the consequences of having Alzheimer's disease on everyday occupations (Study III).
- To examine the relationship between occupational performance and awareness of disability in older adults with cognitive impairment or dementia (Study IV).

METHODS

PARTICIPANTS AND CRITERIA FOR SELECTION

The participants in this thesis were primarily persons with cognitive impairment or dementia in the mild to moderate stage of illness progression, still living in their own homes. An overview of participants, data collection and analysis methods in the studies is presented in Table I.

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV
Participants	n=16	n=6	n=6	n=35
Gender F/M	a) 3/6 b) 4/3	3/3	3/3	27/8
	a) Participants with memory impairment or dementia (<i>n</i> =9) b) Workplace respondents (<i>n</i> =7)	Older adults with Alzheimer's disease	Older adults with Alzheimer's disease	Older adults with cognitive impairment or dementia
Age, years mean (range)	a) 55.6 (51-62)	72.7 (65-80)	72.7 (65-80)	77.9 (59-92)
Research approach	Qualitative approach	Qualitative approach	Phenomenological approach	Quantitative, descriptive approach
Methods of data collection and instruments	a) Interviews with the modified WRI and assessment of ADL performance with the AMPS b) Interviews with interview guide	Interviews with interview guide and observational field notes	Interviews with interview guide	Assessments of ADL performance with the AMPS, awareness of disability with the AAD, and cognitive screening with MMSE
Analysis	Constant comparative method	Constant comparative method Interpretation	Empirical, phenomenological, psychological method	Descriptive, non- parametric, statistical methods

Table 1: Overview of Study I -IV: participants (number, gender, age), research approach, methods of data collection, instruments, and analysis.

Study I

Study I had 16 participants; they included nine participants under the age of 65 with memory deficits or suspected dementia, and seven workplace respondents from the subjects' work places. Criteria for participation in the study were a) having a memory deficit or suspected dementia under investigation at an inpatient clinic, b) being under 65 years of age, c) being employed, d) being on sick leave part time or full time because of cognitive problems for no longer than 18 months, e) being able to participate in the data collection and f) agreeing to participate. All diagnoses were established by a physician based on the results of the investigation after the participants' stays at the clinic, and hence after the data were collected for this study. Within 11 months of consecutive inclusion procedure, 11 persons fulfilled the criteria above. Two of them declined participation, and finally nine participants were involved, here called participants with memory deficits or dementia.

During the inclusion period, 105 persons under 65 years of age were inpatients at the investigating unit. Of these, 96 did not fulfil the criteria because of: disability pension (n=31), not sick-listed (n=20), lack of employment (n=12), too short admission time (n=9), sick-listed longer than 18 months (n=7), sick-listed for other reasons than cognitive problems (n=6), occupational pension (n=6), failing general health (n=3), and declining participation (n=2).

The nine participants with memory deficits or dementia were six men and three women between 51 and 62 years of age (mean=55.6) with diagnoses of memory deficits (n=4), cognitive deficits (n=3) and dementia (n=2). They had different professions and had been employed at their places of work between 2 and 45 years. Five of them were still working part time. Cognitive screening was conducted by using the MMSE (Folstein, Folstein & McHugh, 1975) (range= 19-30, mean=25.7).

Each participant was asked to suggest someone from work that could be contacted for an interview concerning attitudes and observations made at the workplace. Two participants felt that there was no person familiar with their situation at their workplaces, while seven of the participants gave permission to contact the work place and provided names and telephone numbers of possible respondents. The seven persons at the workplaces all agreed to

participate, and they are called here *workplace respondents*. They held different positions; three were the heads of department or supervisors, two were staff secretaries, one was a personnel manager, and one was a fellow worker. They all also had, to a certain extent, a personal relationship with the participant.

Study II and III

The participants in Studies II and III were the same six persons with Alzheimer's disease. The participants were selected as a convenience sample (Polit & Beck, 2004) at a memory investigation unit of a university hospital in an urban area. The primary inclusion criterion was having Alzheimer's disease (AD) in a mild to moderate stage according to DSM-IV (APA, 2000) and NINCDS-ADRDA (McKhann et al., 1984). Some variation concerning age, gender and marital status was sought to provide richness in the data, as recommended when using this approach (Patton, 1987). The participants were three men and three women, 65-80 years old (*mean*=72.6 years). They had had their dementia symptoms for four to eight years according to medical records. Their MMSE scores (Folstein et al., 1975) were 15 – 28 scores out of 30 (mean=21.7). They were all community-dwelling, three were living alone, and three were living with a spouse.

Study IV

Potential participants in Study IV were persons: a) with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) (Winblad et al., 2004) or b) with a suspected or diagnosed dementia according to diagnostic criteria, DSM-IV (APA, 2000) or NINCDS-ADRDA (McKhann et al., 1984), c) living in the community, d) having a decreased ability to perform everyday occupations in accordance with clinical observations by an occupational therapist or a physician, a case history or case records, e) intended to be assessed with the AMPS, f) with a given consent for participating in the study, and g) with verbal ability to understand information and instructions to participate in interviews.

The selection was based on convenience sampling procedures (Polit & Beck, 2004) of persons that were referred to occupational therapy by a geriatrician at two outpatient units for memory investigations in two geriatric clinics. Potential participants that fulfilled the criteria for inclusion were contacted by the occupational therapists during or immediately after their stays

at the clinic. Diagnoses were made by the physician based on the results of the investigation, after the outpatient period. Persons with other main diagnoses, such as depression or stroke, and persons that were estimated to be unable to participate in the assessments and interviews were excluded.

The study comprised 35 subjects (mean age was 77.9 years, range 59-92), women (n=27) and men (n=8). Of these, 24 (69%) were living alone and 11 (31%) were living with a spouse. Eight participants had MCI (23%), while 18 participants had AD (52%). Of the remaining participants five had vascular dementia, while four had unspecified dementia. The MMSE mean score (Folstein et al., 1975) was 21.6 out of 30 (range 12-29).

DATA COLLECTION

Interviews and observations

In Studies I-III, data were collected primarily using interviews that focused mainly on the perspective of the study participants, using a semi-structured interview guide. Field notes and participant and non-participant observations were also used in Studies I and II. All data were collected in a clinical setting or in the participants' homes during or soon after their memory investigations. The interviews were carried out in an informal and familiar atmosphere, allowing the participants to take their time and reflect on aspects of the interview themes.

In Study I the interviews focused on the participants' experiences and perceptions of their work situations. A semi-structured interview guide was used, based on a modified version of the Worker Role Interview (WRI) (Velozo, Kielhofner & Fisher, 1999). The WRI is an interview instrument used for identifying psychosocial and environmental factors influencing a person's return to work after injury or illness, e.g. expectations, values, and interests. The WRI was translated to Swedish and modified for use as an interview guide in this study with permission from the authors. The assessment form itself was not applied. All interviews were carried out during the participants' stays at the clinic, once for each participant. The interviews were audiotaped and lasted from 24 to 118 minutes, mean duration 60 minutes.

Secondarily in Study I, the workplace respondents were also interviewed using a semistructured interview guide that was developed for this study. The main themes in the interview guide concerned the respondents' apprehension of the subjects' possibilities to work at present and in the future, together with a description of the former work situation, before onset. The workplace respondents' interviews lasted from 27 to 76 minutes with a mean length of 45 minutes, and were carried out once at each of the seven workplaces.

Studies II and III were based on the same data. Data were collected by means of repeated interviews; primarily in the participants' home environments, whereas some of the first interviews were conducted in a secluded area at the geriatric clinic. A semi-structured interview guide (Kvale, 1996; Patton, 1987) was used, aiming at concrete descriptions of the participants' daily occupations, their experiences and perceived significance of daily occupations, their motives for occupational engagement, and their perceptions of competence and changes. The participants were encouraged to provide concrete descriptions of their experiences of everyday life occupations and their experiences while engaged in these. All participants were interviewed on two to four occasions during a two-week period. The interviews were tape-recorded and lasted between 19 minutes and two hours. Tape recordings of conversational interviews that reflected the participants' experiences while performing the tasks were also included, as the intention was to obtain an understanding of the participants' engagement as expressed in everyday occupations. All interviews were transcribed verbatim and comprised in total about 650 pages.

In Study II, both participant and non-participant observations (Bogdan & Biklen, 1998) were obtained in addition to the interviews. The observations were conducted in everyday occupations, chosen by each of the participants as representing various ordinary everyday tasks that were familiar and meaningful to each participant. In the participant observations, the first author (AÖ) interacted with the participant during his/her performance of everyday occupations. The non-participant observations required that the second author (LN) made field notes during the course of events. The observations were documented as field notes immediately after each session and transcribed in text, in total 110 pages.

ASSESSMENTS

For Study I, no standardized assessment to estimate the work abilities was available. Hence, the Assessment of Motor and Process Skills (AMPS) was used to obtain a measure of the participants' ability to perform complex instrumental tasks (Fisher, 1997, 2006a). The AMPS assessments were carried out at the inpatient unit. Each participant performed two or three tasks that were relevant and familiar to him/her, such as making coffee or setting the table for lunch.

In Study IV, all participants were evaluated in two ADL tasks with the AMPS (Fisher, 2006b) and the Assessment of Awareness of Disability (AAD) (Kottorp, 2006). The assessments were conducted by four clinical occupational therapists, who made between six and nine assessments each. The data were collected either in a clinical setting in a kitchen at the clinic or in the participants' homes, depending on the ordinary team work procedures at each of the clinics. In addition, the MMSE (Folstein, et al., 1975) was used in all four studies to provide information on the participants' levels of cognitive ability.

The Assessment of Motor and Process Skills

The AMPS is a client-centered observation-based performance assessment used by occupational therapists. The AMPS is designed to measure a client's quality of performance of ADL tasks (Fisher, 2006a) and the direct influence on the ability to perform both personal activities of daily living (PADL) as well as instrumental activities of daily living (IADL). The client performs two or more ADL tasks that are relevant and familiar to him or her. The occupational therapist observes and evaluates the quality of performance in 16 motor skills (such as Walks and Calibrates) and 20 process skills (such as Chooses, Initiates and Uses) (Fisher, 2006b). The client's performance is scored for all skills using a scale of 1-4, where 4=competent performance and 1= markedly deficient performance.

All raters undergo a five-day course and are calibrated in order to ensure that their scores are consistent and reliable. The AMPS raw scores for each client are entered into the occupational therapists' individualized copies of the AMPS computer scoring software (Computer

Adaptive Technologies & Fisher, 1994-96), generating two measures of individual performance. One measure is of ADL motor ability and one measure is of ADL process ability. These ability measures can also be evaluated relative to two motor and process cut-off measures. The cut-off measure is 2.0 logits for the motor scale and 1.0 logit for the ADL process scale. Clients with measures below the cut-off measure on the ADL motor scale are likely to demonstrate increased effort when performing ADL tasks. Clients with ability measures below the cut-off measure on the ADL process scale are likely to demonstrate increased inefficiencies, safety risks, and a need of assistance when performing ADL tasks. In addition, clients below the cut-off measure on ADL process scale are likely to need assistance to function in the community (Fisher, 2006a).

The AMPS is found to be free of gender bias (Merritt & Fisher, 2003). The validity, reliability, and clinical utility of the assessment are well documented in a number of research studies on clients with dementia (Doble, Fisk & Rockwood, 1999; Nygård, Bernspång, Fisher & Winblad, 1994; Oakley & Sunderland, 1997; Oakley, Duran, Fisher & Merritt, 2003; Robinson & Fisher, 1999).

The Assessment of Awareness of Disability

The Assessment of Awareness of Disability, (AAD) (Kottorp, 2006; Tham, Bernspång & Fisher, 1999) is a client-centered occupation-based assessment of a client's awareness of limitations in ADL performance that has been developed to be used in conjunction with the AMPS (Fisher, 2006a). The AAD is based on a standardized semi-structured interview comprised of eleven questions asked immediately after the performance of an ADL task. The purpose of using the AAD is to systematically examine if the client has a limited awareness of disability by assessing the discrepancy between the observed task limitations (as evaluated in the scoring of the AMPS motor and process skill items) and the limitations experienced and described by the client after the performance of a specific ADL task (Kottorp, 2006). The rater scores the magnitude of the discrepancy using a four-point rating scale (4= no discrepancy, 1 = major discrepancy).

AAD is a recently developed instrument that has not previously been used in clients with dementia. However, the AAD has been used both in stroke rehabilitation and in people with mental retardation, providing evidence of validity, reliability and sensitivity of the computergenerated measures (Hällgren & Kottorp, 2005; Kottorp et al., 2003; Tham et al., 2001). The awareness of disability measures have demonstrated sensitivity to change over time, and sensitivity in relation to occupational therapy interventions (Hällgren & Kottorp, 2005; Kottorp et al., 2003; Tham et al., 2001).

In clinical practice, the information obtained from the AAD could be used to identify clients with limited awareness of the problems they demonstrate in occupational performance, to provide adequate support and in planning interventions together with the client and his or her family, taking both the perspective of the client and the observable limitations into consideration, as well as the discrepancy between these.

The Mini Mental State Examination

The Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) (Folstein, Folstein & McHugh, 1975) is a widely used clinical instrument for screening the cognitive level in elderly subjects with cognitive impairment or dementia (Crum, Anthony, Bassett & Folstein, 1993). In Studies I-III, the MMSE was used as one feature describing the background characteristics of the participants. In Study IV, the MMSE was used as a screening measure of overall cognitive functioning. In Studies I and IV, the MMSE was conducted by the geriatrician during the ordinary memory investigating procedure and excerpted from the participants' case records. In Studies II and III, the MMSE was administered within the research study and conducted by the interviewer in connection with the first interview. The maximum score is 30 indicating normal cognitive functioning (Folstein et al., 1975). In clinical practice and research, cut-off scores of >10 indicate severe cognitive impairment, 10-14 moderate impairment, 15-19, mild to moderate impairment, and 20-24 mild impairment (Wlodarczyk, Brodaty & Hawthorne, 2004).

DATA ANALYSIS

Studies I-II

The interviews in Studies I and II and the field notes in Study II were analyzed using a qualitative comparative method (Bogdan & Biklen, 1998). This analysis method implies an inductive approach to the data. First, all transcribed interviews and the field notes were read to get an understanding of the content as a whole. In Study I the focus was on participants' experiences of the work situation and the conditions influencing each participant's possibilities to work. In Study II, the focus was on the participants' descriptions of motives and meaning of everyday occupations.

The process of analyzing interviews and field notes continued in parallel with a line-by-line coding, searching for references relevant to the aim of the studies. The analysis continued by shifting between re-reading of data and comparing participants' statements with preliminary categories that could further add to the development of themes. This process was conducted with the data for each participant, resulting in a set of categories. Then the categories for all participants were compared to identify differences and similarities, resulting in the final themes and categories. In **Study II**, a hermeneutical approach (Gustavsson, 1996) was used in the final step of analysis to formulate possible interpretations of the meanings of daily occupations supported by data and pertinent to all parts of the data.

Study III

During the process of analyzing data for Study II, the contradicting expressions in data of how the participants described and thought about on their illness and its consequences generated an increasing interest in their experiences in terms of awareness of their predicament. To understand more of how awareness of the consequences of Alzheimer's disease was expressed in the participants' descriptions of everyday life occupations, a phenomenological method was applied in analyzing the interview data. The Empirical, Phenomenological, Psychological (EPP) method (Karlsson, 1995) was used. This method is based on the phenomenology of Husserl (1970/1900-01) and aims to describe the meaning structure of a life-world phenomenon based on the research participants' accounts of their lived experiences. The psychological focus of this method was replaced with the perspective of

occupational therapy, on the experience and meaning of everyday occupations. The phenomenon in this study was formulated as *the awareness of the consequences of Alzheimer's disease in everyday life*.

First, all data was read through to get a good understanding of the content and to identify all parts of the text indicating expressions of the lived experiences of awareness. Data that were not relevant to the aim of the study were excluded from further analysis. Next, a new open reading of all selected data took place, with the intention of obtaining an empathic understanding of the whole content, without imposing any theoretical model or theory. The text was then divided into meaning units each time there was a shift in meaning in the data. Thereafter, the meaning units were analyzed in the light of the whole, and the units were transformed from their particular facts to their explicit and implicit meaning, applying a language close to data. Preliminary themes were created in a search for the main characteristics of the phenomena. Subsequently, the analysis included synthesizing the transformed meaning units and preliminary themes into "situated structures of meanings", presented as a synopsis for each participant. Finally, the situated structures from all participants were compared and synthesized into a "general structure" that incorporated all the characteristics of the phenomenon based on all situated structures.

During the analysis procedure, the horizontal consistency of all characteristics was examined by scrutinizing conflicting interpretations to ensure that the final interpretation was the most plausible (Karlsson, 1995). The interpretations were also continuously discussed in peer reviews with other researchers who were familiar with the phenomenological approach to research.

Studies I and IV

Initially in both Studies I and IV, each occupational therapist who collected data entered the individual raw AMPS scores into their individualized copies of the AMPS computer scoring software (Computer Adaptive Technologies & Fisher, 1994-96). The raw scores were then analyzed using applications of many-faceted Rasch analysis to generate two individual measures of ADL motor ability and ADL process ability (Bond & Fox, 2001; Fisher, 2006a). The application of many-faceted Rasch analysis included in the AMPS computer scoring

software adjusts for item difficulty, task challenge and rater severity so that all ADL motor and ADL process ability measures of the participants could be compared. In Studies I and Study IV, this analysis was used to compare the participants' ability to perform complex, chosen ADL tasks with each other.

The analysis in Study IV then continued. The raw scores for each client's AAD evaluation were analyzed by the researchers using many-faceted Rasch analysis to generate individual measures of awareness of disability. Similar to the AMPS, the application of many-faceted Rasch analysis with the AAD also adjusts for rater severity, task challenge, and item difficulty, so that all clients' measures of awareness could also be compared directly, despite the differences in tasks and raters. This analysis used a computer application of a many-faceted Rasch analysis, FACETS (Linacre, 2005).

Descriptive statistics were used to describe the characteristics of the participants. In order to examine the correlations between the measures generated from the AMPS and the AAD, Spearman's rank correlational statistics were used. In order to analyze the magnitude of any differences between participants with MCI and AD, *Mann-Whitney U-tests* were used.

ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Persons with cognitive impairment or dementia could be described as particularly exposed and vulnerable in comparison to other people in health care research (Alzheimer's Association, 2004; Kim, Karlawish & Caine, 2002). For example, they might feel obliged to consent to participation when approached in a medical care setting from which they need care, and they might have a limited possibility to make a well grounded decision due to their cognitive limitations (Kim et al., 2002). In all four studies of this thesis this was carefully considered. However, developing a client-centred approach in interventions for persons with cognitive impairment or dementia also means involving the person in research (Norberg, 2004; Dewing, 2002). The participants were recruited at a point in time when they were in contact with medical care due to their condition and they comprehended our reasons to include them in the research and were made aware of the aims of our studies as requested in ethical guidelines (Alzheimer's Association, 2004).

Permission to carry out the studies was obtained from the local ethical committee. All data were coded to prevent identification of participants. All participants in **Study I-IV** received both written and verbal information about the study. After considering the information, all participants included gave their informed written consent to participate.

In **Study I**, the participants were contacted and informed by the researchers during their stay at the clinic. The included participants voluntarily provided names and telephone numbers to persons at their work places that could be contacted for an interview. The workplace respondents were informed verbally about the study at the first contact and they received written information and gave written consent to participate in conjunction with their interview session. In **Study II-III**, some of the participants were contacted and informed of the study during their admission period as outpatients at the clinic, and some of the participants were contacted a short time after their stay. All of the six participants' closest relatives were also contacted and informed, both verbally and written, about the study. In **Study IV**, all participants were informed about the study by the occupational therapist at the clinic in connection to the ordinary occupational therapist at the clinic if they agreed to be contacted for

participation in the study by the researchers. The participants were then contacted by the researcher and informed about the study both verbally and written, and the participants gave their informed written consent.

In all studies, the researchers set great store of an ethical and heedful approach towards potential and included participants. Repeated information was emphasized and was adjusted to the individual participant and situation to underscore that participation was voluntary and that their decision would not affect their ordinary care. For instance, before each interview session the interviewer repeated the purpose of the interview and the aim of the research in a conversation with the participant. Additionally, the interviewer answered all question posed during the interviews about the usefulness of his or her contribution that at several occasions were asked by participants. The researchers and occupational therapists strove to be as attentive and sensitive as possible to any signs of discomfort or reluctance to participate in the participants to avoid constrained participation. For example, if a planned data collection occasion seemed to be inconvenient to a participant, the researcher adjusted and schedules were changed to fit the participant. None of the participants expressed a wish to disrupt their participation after inclusion in **studies I-IV**.

FINDINGS

In **Study I**, the aim was to describe how persons with memory deficits or younger on-set dementia perceived and met their problems at work including the attitudes of their coworkers. In conclusion, the possibility to remain at work seemed to depend on multiple factors, including the individuals' apprehended ability to work and the length of the sickleave.

The findings reveal that the participants were the first to experience vague and gradual changes at work that also interfered with their general life situation, leading for instance to decreased self-confidence, sleep disturbances and worries about the work situation. The participants developed various strategies to compensate for their difficulties, rather than disclosing their problems. As time progressed, the strained situation led to the necessity to seek help. Only later, the workplace respondents attended to diffuse problems, such as that the participants' personality being changed, or that their achievements at work having deteriorated.

The workplace respondents expressed a will to support the person to remain at work for as long as possible. However, the situation also was perceived to affect the workplace negatively, in that the co-workers had to support the participants in their daily work and in problems finding more simple and adapted tasks due to a strained economy and demands for more effective working methods. All participants as well as the workplace respondents emphasised the importance of doing occupations that were experienced as meaningful. Those who were still working wanted to stay at work as long as they made valuable contributions. For participants who had been on sick leave for a considerable time returning to work was no option. They emphasized the importance of finding meaningful and satisfactory occupations to fill their time with and to being of importance to others even if they were no longer able to work.

In **Study II**, the aim was to describe the meanings and motives for engagement in self-chosen daily life occupations among people with Alzheimer's disease. The rich variety of motives and meanings, and the significance of occupations suggested that therapists and caregivers

might contribute to the well-being of persons with Alzheimer's disease living in their own homes by identifying and supporting daily life occupations of personal meaning and significance.

First, everyday occupations supported the participants to maintain their ordinary pattern of everyday life and provided content and structure to each day. The everyday occupations offered them an opportunity to be a part of a coherent context and were also important for maintaining a sense of normality and the experience of contributing to the social context and the significant experience of "being someone" to others. By being engaged in occupations the participants maintained their experience of being autonomous and in command of their lives, even though they sought help when needed.

The occupations also allowed them to experience and demonstrate certain characteristics of their identity that reflected the person they used to be. The participants described a "private sphere", i.e. a personal place, which seemed to provide a sense of freedom, enjoyment, inner peace, and an opportunity to follow their minds. The private sphere varied from being a physical place to an intrapersonal place. In addition, two categories were indirectly influencing motives for engagement in occupations, i.e. double-edged keys crucial to occupation and two modes of making sense of the cessation of occupations.

The aim of **Study III** was to explore and describe awareness of the consequences of Alzheimer's disease on everyday occupations among persons with Alzheimer's disease. In conclusion, the findings showed how awareness of the consequences of having AD was expressed through their reflections and in narratives of their experiences. The structure of the investigated phenomenon was presented as two main characteristics; *discovering and managing changes in occupational and social interactions* and *reflecting on a changing life situation*.

The findings showed that the participants gradually attended to and considered changes in their interactions with everyday occupations and socially with other people. They noticed the presence of changes as compared to before, and explored the changes by sometimes exposing themselves to challenging situations. Awareness was spontaneously expressed in situations where the participants experienced forgetfulness. The participants used adaptive approaches that were developed to handle the changing abilities or to facilitate social interaction. This was understood to reflect the participants' awareness of the need that adaptive approaches were required to continuously manage everyday occupations. They tried to make sense of what was happening to them by connecting it to a normal course of aging, a previous accident or as being hereditary.

The experience of change was described as an elusive perception of change, being difficult to grasp and incorporate as a part of one self. They tried to relate to having Alzheimer's disease as a situation that seemed impossible to influence and they emphasized their option to still go on with life. The participants reflected on the impact their condition had on other people near them, concluding that their condition could imply an obstacle for other peoples' life styles.

The purpose of **Study IV** was to examine the relationship between occupational performance and awareness of disability in older adults with cognitive impairment or dementia. In conclusion, the results showed a positive relationship between occupational performance and awareness of disability. Participants with AD had lower ADL ability measures and significantly lower measures of awareness of disability compared to participants with MCI. However, there were also large variations within the diagnostic groups, implying that limitations in occupational performance are not equal with decreased awareness of disability. The results suggest that ADL performance ability and awareness of disability should be assessed on an individual basis.

The results further showed that the total sample had decreased ability to perform ADL tasks indicating a need of assistance to function in the community. The ability measures for the MCI sample (n=8) showed that all of these participants were above the cut-off measure on the ADL process scale, while the measures of ADL motor ability was below the cut-off for ADL motor ability for three of the participants. The ability measures for the AD sample (n=18) showed that most of these participants were below the cut-off measure on both the ADL process ability and ADL motor ability.

The MCI sample (n=8) showed an overall higher awareness of disability than for the participants in the AD sample (n=18) (p<0.05). There was a positive and moderate relationship between awareness of disability and occupational performance for the whole sample, suggesting a slightly stronger relationship between ADL motor ability and awareness of disability (r=0.67; p<0.01) compared to ADL process ability and awareness of disability (r=0.44; p<0.01). An evaluation of the raw scores for each participant in each task showed that 43% of the participants with cognitive impairment or dementia in this study were not aware of some of their limitations in occupational performance that resulted in unacceptable outcomes in everyday occupations.

The measures of cognitive functioning, screened by the MMSE showed a positive relationship with ADL process ability. There was no significant correlation between the participants' MMSE scores and ADL motor ability or MMSE scores and awareness of disability.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

MAIN FINDINGS

The purpose of this thesis was to shed light on the experiences of everyday life occupations and enhance the knowledge about having cognitive impairment or dementia, through exploration of the research participants' own accounts. To illuminate the subjective experiences of dementia in research, a varying set of research strategies has been suggested to generate understanding and practical knowledge (Hubbard et al., 2003). Interviews, observations and assessments were used in this thesis with the intention of capturing and illustrating the participants' experiences from different perspectives. When considering the transferability (Patton, 2002), it should be noted that the participants in these studies were persons in the early or moderate stages of the illness progression, living in their homes, with or without daily support. Consequently, they were still actively engaged in daily life occupations and participating in social life, although their living conditions were challenged by their progressing illness.

In this section, a discussion of the main themes generated from the empirical findings will be presented, focusing on different aspects of everyday occupations, the participants' experiences of being ill, and the significance to them of other people. Awareness as explored in these studies will also be discussed, followed by reflections on limitations in the research approaches that were used. Suggestions for further research are made, and finally, clinical implications based on the findings and results are presented.

EXPERIENCES OF EVERYDAY OCCUPATIONS

The point of departure in all four studies was occupations in everyday life and the findings exhibit and exemplifies the potential meaning and significance of everyday occupations. Therefore, occupations as an important arena for experiencing and expressing changes are further discussed below.

Meaning and significance of occupations

One of the major findings of these studies was how the meaning and significance of everyday occupations came to the fore in the participant's views, both concerning the performance and the underlying significance of certain occupations to the person. To be able to carry on with occupations that held individual meanings was indisputably important and the participants strove to continue with the occupations they wanted and needed to do in spite of an illness that is known to have a disabling impact on performing occupations.

In the findings, occupations were apprehended as meaningful in a wide variety of aspects. Particularly crucial aspects were that occupations could make the participants feel that they contributed something to the social context (Studies I-III), for example making useful contributions at work (Study I), doing something for another person (Studies II-III) and doing things that were satisfying to them in the sense of providing joy, amusement, or relaxation (Study II). In Studies I-III, the importance of everyday occupations was emphasized as contributing to the sense of competence in the participants. In the participants' life world of increasing difficulties that lead to fatigue and feelings of distress, these findings seemed particularly important and encouraging as they suggest everyday occupations as a possible arena for maintaining aspects of competence. This indicates that providing people with dementia with possibilities to continue doing those occupations that they find most significant, for as long as they experience this as meaningful, might contribute to their maintenance of experienced competence.

The meaning of occupations and of the "doing" of them has been investigated in occupational therapy in different ways (Hasselkus, 2002). The experience of meaningfulness in occupations has been found to be related to motivation, interests, and habits (Kielhofner, 2002). For example, Piskur, Kinebanian and Josephsson (2002) found in a study among well persons that occupations were related to well-being and were a way to create a feeling of balance in life. In occupational therapy's dementia research, certain individually chosen occupations have been shown to be used as a resting place by participants (Nygård & Borell, 1998), providing them with a possibility to rest from the threats of dementia.

Placing importance on the experienced meaning of occupations also influences the way in which occupational therapists carry out their practice (Hasselkus & Rosa, 1997). Josephsson (1994) suggested that occupations of everyday life with individual meaning could be used as a "meeting place" between a person with dementia at his/her caregiver when conversations had become impoverished. However, findings indicate that the significance of occupations might change during the course of illness (Nygård & Borell, 1998). The progressive nature of the disease and the resulting continuous changes are important considerations to keep in mind when implementing support and encouragement for people with dementia to continue their engagement in occupations. Eventually, the person may need support in letting go of occupations that are too challenging.

The wide array of experienced meanings of occupations presented in this thesis suggests that we have no reason to assume that the meanings and significance of everyday life occupations in people with dementia would be much different from the meanings other people impose on occupations. However, as the meaning of occupations is influenced by many factors, such as culture, environment and personal values (Hasselkus, 2002; Kielhofner, 2002), it is likely that illness is another influencing factor. An occupation might become more or less important to perform after the onset of dementia, or the inherent meaning of an occupation might be altered for a person. This was, for instance, shown in Study II, where some participants expressed that they had started to perform certain occupations as a way to maintain cognitive abilities or demonstrate that they were still independent. For some participants, the daily walks also meant being in a private sphere, aside from being a way to get physical exercise. This finding indicates that it is not enough in occupational therapy practice to consider that occupations are given individual meanings. It is important to be sensitive to the present also; occupations might have changed or lost their significance during the illness progression or just with the passage of time.

One of the findings in Study I was that the persons with cognitive impairment wanted to work for as long as it was meaningful to them and to their employers. What could be characterized as *meaningful work* must be regarded as highly individual and dependent on multiple factors (Gard & Sandberg, 1998). Johansson and Tham (2006) showed that younger persons with acquired brain injury experienced that the social dimension of work had taken on an expanded

meaning, for instance the contact with colleagues, but that work also had taken on a new and less important place in life. As in Study I, they concluded that it is important to pay attention to the individuals' work experience for designing individualized intervention programs. No studies were found about the work situation for persons with dementia, but a study on the retirement process among well elderly persons (Jonsson, Josephsson & Kielhofner, 2001) is in concordance with this, stressing both internal motivation and external demands as important to meaning and motivation for engaging occupations concerning both work and occupations after retirement.

The studies of this thesis identify individual significance and a variety of experienced meanings from being engaged in occupations when having cognitive impairment or dementia. Therefore, supporting these persons to continue with occupations meaningful to them in their present everyday lives must be one of the most important tasks for their families, as well as for occupational therapists and other health care professionals.

Everyday occupations as an arena for experiencing changes

In all four studies, everyday occupations seemed to serve as an important arena to the participants for acting on and experiencing the consequences brought about by cognitive impairment or dementia. These findings indicate that engagement in occupations might be more complex than merely a question of ability or independence. From the perspective of the person, being engaged in occupations also involves exploring, experiencing, engaging, and practicing occupations, as for healthy adults (Christiansen & Baum, 1997). It is worth noting that the participants in these studies stand out as agents with the intention and ability to act and interact, as opposed to being passive victims of their diseases. The view of the person with dementia as taking active part in everyday life occupations is central in the findings of the present thesis and contradicts the picture of the "demented" person as passive and lost; a view which earlier has been common (Sabat & Harré, 1994; Hughes, Louw & Sabat, 2006).

In Studies I-III, the findings identified everyday occupations as arenas in which the participants could discover that something had changed or was changing. Their perceptions of changes resulted in painful experiences of failure and feelings of anxiety. However, although

occupations implied difficulties, they also brought about contradicting experiences of joy and appreciation of being able to continue with everyday life. This appreciation seemed to include a continuous checking of their competence, and allowed the participants to demonstrate to other people that they could still manage, though watching out for changes. For example, the findings of Studies I-III showed that the participants became more watchful about all presentations of change.

In Study I this came to the fore in the work situation, where the demands of work could be characterized as more strained than in the familiar life at home. This may be understood as meaning that work tasks are more complex and demanding on efficiency and flexibility. Therefore, it seemed likely that these tasks would be more sensitive to experiences of changes such as increasing insufficiency and signs of failing cognition. This was expected, as we know that dementia first affects the most complex activities of daily life. More remarkable was the fact that in Study I the changes were experienced by the participant long before they were noticeable by the workplace respondents. This indicates that changes in the beginning of the illness progression are more appreciable to the person than to others, as was also concluded by Robinson et al. (1997). This finding is contradictory to the general view on dementia symptoms as first noticed by others but not by the person with the illness.

This has implications for how to approach the experiences of people being under medical investigation for suspected dementia. It suggests that their subjective accounts of experiencing changes should be taken seriously, considering this as possible manifestations of cognitive impairment, as also been suggested by Robinson (2002) and others (Husband, 2000; Katsuno, 2005). Recent studies have also found that persons with MCI do experience disability in everyday occupations (Artero, Touchon & Ritchie, 2001; Perneczky et al., 2006; Toukko, Morris & Ebert, 2005), which supports this recommendation.

Taken together, these findings support the notion that the occupational arena is important for persons with cognitive impairment or dementia, in spite of their difficulties in performing everyday occupations. The findings of this thesis have particularly identified occupations as an arena in which they can explore and comprehend perceived changes.

THE EXPERIENCE OF BEING ILL

The findings revealed the participants' experiences of being ill to be intertwined with their experiences of everyday occupations. Most of the participants in Studies I-III could describe aspects of being ill as a consequence of the perceived changes. They suspected or knew about having, for example, Alzheimer's disease and all of the participants in Studies II-III understood why they took dementia medication. Yet this knowledge seemed to be incompatible with the views they had of themselves; they knew about the change and about the features of dementia but they could not imagine what they should experience with this disease. Hence, the knowledge about having Alzheimer's disease seemed difficult to integrate and incorporate with the perceptions they had of themselves.

The views they communicated of themselves as being ill seemed to be in contrast and disagreement with the views they had of what having Alzheimer's disease meant. Bond and Corner (2001) described that the commonly shared view on people with dementia in society as "victims" or "sufferers" emanates from the biomedical perspective on dementia as a degenerative brain disease that leads to loss of self. Consequently, this common view in society could explain some of the difficulties the participants in this work experienced; they could not integrate their own perceptions with the commonly shared societal view on people with dementia. This was also found in a qualitative study on the social effects of a diagnosis of dementia by Langdon, Eagle, and Warner (2007). In their study, the word "dementia" awoke aversion among participants diagnosed with dementia and they feared that other people would change their behavior towards them as a result of their diagnosis. Hence, being part of the commonly shared understanding meant that the participants in Studies I-III had difficulties in integrating their understanding of dementia with the changes they experienced.

On the other hand, the findings in Studies I-III demonstrate that the participants felt physically fit and capable, and enjoyed being physically well. This indicated that they did not view their difficulties as a physical illness, a notion that also was expressed by some of the participants. Most of them emphasized the importance of keeping up their physical ability in general terms, i.e. taking daily walks and doing as much as they could. Early stage dementia

involves uncertainty and vague symptoms that the participants described as difficult to grasp. These experiences could be easy for them to attribute to other conditions, such as stress and fatigue (Study I), or traumatic events (Studies II-III) than to the new disease.

Moreover, a recurring expression in all data was that memory failure is "normal" in old age. This could be related to their trying to make sense of dementia, and attributing it to "normality" in old age, as found in both Studies II and III and in other studies (Langdon et al., 2007; McQuarrie, 2005). It could also be understood as attempts to fit in the world of "normality", which is an explanatory model in social psychology of how chronically ill adjust to illness in social relationships (Radley, 1994). To further understand this ambiguity of both knowing about dementia and trying to incorporate this illness with the view of how persons with dementia should perceive themselves needs further studies that would benefit from incorporating a societal perspective.

SIGNIFICANCE OF OTHER PEOPLE AND SOCIAL INTERACTION

Even though these studies focus on the perspective of the person with cognitive impairment or dementia, other people close to them were also seen from their perspective. Some of the participants lived with a spouse or close to other relatives, and some lived alone. Whatever their social situation, it was clear that other people and social interaction were important to them in different aspects.

Firstly, the findings in Studies I-III showed how participants viewed themselves within the social interplay; they pondered on how they were perceived by people around them, and it was apparent that what other people thought of them mattered to them. For instance, the participants in Study I concealed their increasing problems from their colleagues even though they trusted them. In Studies II and III, the participants described how they reflected on other persons' reactions to them, when they told about their diagnoses. They also reflected on whether their disabilities were obvious to people in their environment. This is remarkable as the general view on people with dementia is that they are not aware of their problems (Marková et al, 2005). However, findings in Study III reveal that they are aware of having

difficulties and, moreover, that they hence reflect that others might notice their difficulties or that others might even notice difficulties that they themselves are unable to perceive. This aspect has also been found in other qualitative studies from the perspective of the person with dementia (Clare, 2003; Langdon, et al., 2007).

One particular aspect of this came to the fore in Study III, where the participants went beyond their own experience and reflected on how their illness must have consequences for other people close to them. Consequently, their awareness did not only concern themselves but also persons in their environment, e.g. when they were elaborating on how their illness had to affect their spouses' everyday life. Similar findings have been presented in a few studies previously (Clare, Goater & Woods, 2006; Pearce, Clare & Pistrang, 2002). Taken together, these studies indicate that people with dementia may be very sensitive to what other people around them express concerning perceived influence of the illness on the others' lives. Consequently, other people might have a significant impact on how persons with dementia apprehend the consequences of their situation, which is important to consider in support and caregiving.

Secondly, studies have focused on the interaction in couples where one of them has dementia (Vikström et al., 2005; Vikström et al., submitted; Hellström et al., 2005), focusing on the supportive social environment. In Studies I-III, this was also pointed out by the participants as being important. It has been argued that other peoples' expectations of people with dementia influence their behavior (Bond & Corner, 2001; Lyman, 1989). Hence, this might have an impact on how the participants viewed themselves and experienced their situation. The findings in Study I revealed that the social fellowship and support the participants experienced from colleagues at work were of vital importance to their attitude towards continued work. The wish to continue to "be something to another person" in spite of the disabling illness was expressed in Studies I-III, indicating for example that the perception of others could be experienced as a confirmation of maintained ability. Hence, the findings raise the importance of carefully considering how to approach persons with dementia in clinical practice. While it is not possible to influence the disease, it might be of outmost importance to consider that how they are approached by others in social interactions might either facilitate or worsen their perceived situations.

AWARENESS IN PEOPLE WITH DEMENTIA

Awareness of disability was in focus in Studies III and IV, using different research approaches to capture the participants' awareness of disabilities in everyday occupations. Through lived experiences, Study III showed the participants' awareness in various ways. The abundance of findings in Study III indicates a concordance with results from studies of Clare (2003) and MacQuarrie (2005) who conclude that the way in which people with AD understand and mediate their experiences is more complex than previously indicated. Set against the traditional view of persons with dementia as being unaware of their disability, this supports the argument that awareness is a complex concept (Marková et al., 2005).

Using a phenomenological approach in Study III allowed us to enter into the experiential world of the person with AD that presented one view on the awareness of the consequences of AD. In Study IV, we used a clinical method to measure awareness of disability, using the AAD (Kottorp, 2006). The results of this study, in contrast to those of Study III, clearly showed that persons with cognitive impairment or dementia have a limited awareness of disability compared to their results on the ADL assessment made by the occupational therapist. Yet limited awareness as measured in this traditional sense does not mean lack of reflections and adaptive efforts. It is well documented in research that people with dementia or cognitive impairment have decreased awareness of their cognitive deficits as compared to the estimations of their family members, or as found in studies comparing well older adults with persons with AD (Arkin & Mahendra, 2001; Derouesné et al., 1999; Graham, Kunik, Doody & Snow, 2005).

Based on such results, it could be argued that there is no point in paying attention to the awareness of persons with cognitive impairment or dementia since it is reasonable to assume that all persons with dementia have impaired awareness. On the other hand, as an increasing body of research has shown that people with dementia do experience and reflect on their disabilities, such presumptions need to be challenged: this was also was shown in Study III. Moreover, the level of awareness might impact on the wellbeing in persons with dementia and their carer and influence the outcome on rehabilitation interventions (Clare, Wilson, Carter,

Roth & Hodges, 2004). This has also been found in persons with stroke (Tham et al, 2001) and persons with intellectual disabilities (Kottorp, et al., 2003). Thus, it could be argued that the findings of this thesis expand on earlier findings concerning awareness in people with dementia.

Taken together, the results of Studies III and IV showed that using just one approach might not capture the full picture of awareness, as the participants in Study III appeared to have good insight into their problems, while the participants in Study IV, on the other hand, were found to have limited awareness of their disability. Consequently, this suggests that a multidimensional approach (Howorth & Saper, 2003, Clare et al., 2005) using both measures and interviews would reflect different aspects of awareness providing a more comprehensive, albeit not a complete, understanding of what the person experiences (Prigatano, 1997). This could better support both clinicians and families in interventions that will facilitate the persons' adjustment process, and hence, their well-being as suggested in cognitive rehabilitation (Prigatano, 1997). It might also help the person with dementia to better understand their personal reactions to the consequences of their disability.

METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Conducting research including perspectives from persons with dementia, using for instance interviews, has been described as particularly challenging, as persons with dementia have difficulties with recollection and communication skills (Bond & Corner, 2001; Downs, 1997; Hubbard et al., 2003). Consequently, such research needs particular considerations. The emphasis in the studies for this thesis was to get access to the perspective of the person, in order to get an enhanced and deepened knowledge complementing previous research, where the occupational aspects of everyday life have been described or assessed mainly in terms of disability in ADL. The methodology used in these present studies took on a complementary approach, comprising interviews, observations, and assessments as suggested by several authors (Hubbard et al., 2003; Kitwood, 1997b; Nygård, 2006) when the aim is to capture the experiences of everyday occupations from the perspective of the persons themselves. Conducting these studies, methodological challenges had to be managed, ranging from comprehensive issues such as considering ethical dilemmas, to details such as formulating adequate interview guides with questions that were comprehensible and possible for the respondents to answer.

In the following, some of the methodological challenges in the present studies will be discussed, starting with the selection of participants. The criteria for inclusion could have affected the findings in these studies in different ways. In Study I, one of the inclusion criteria was having employment; hence all those who had left their employment were excluded. It could be assumed that some of them had left their positions to take early retirements or be on sick leave or disability pension for other reasons than memory problems. Moreover, the participants in Study I felt a strong involvement in their workplaces and this may have contributed to their still being employed. As a consequence of the inclusion criteria, the sample in Study I may have comprised a few persons who had stable employment, and therefore the findings should be interpreted in consideration of these conditions.

In Studies II-VI, a convenience sampling procedure was applied (Polit & Beck, 2002). The reasons for this were twofold. The data collection approach in Studies II-III included several interviews in the participants' homes. Consequently, participants had to accept home visits on

more than one occasion and be prepared to share their experiences. However, they were not included on grounds of being especially occupied with everyday occupations (Study II) or being particularly aware of their disabilities (Study III). Yet, as a result of the stipulated criteria, the findings in Studies II-III may reflect the experiences of persons with open minds and good adaptive skills that were prepared to welcome a researcher into their homes for repeated interviews concerning their disabilities. In Study IV, the selection was made by clinical occupational therapists in a convenience sampling procedure (Polit & Beck, 2002). Work conditions affecting the data sampling procedure beyond the therapist's control might have influenced the selection, such as heavy work load or lack of time. However, when the study sample was compared to samples in other studies, it was revealed to be comparable to community-living persons with dementia concerning ADL performance ability measured by AMPS, and cognitive screening measured by MMSE (Hartman, Fisher & Duran, 1999; Robinson & Fisher, 1996, 1999).

The basic inclusion criteria for all four studies were that potential participants should experience changes in performing everyday life occupations, i.e. it was not based primarily on a specific diagnosis. The issue of diagnosis therefore needs further comments. In order to find participants who had difficulties in everyday life occupations, who lived in their own homes and were in the early stages of dementia, all participants (Studies I-IV) were recruited from geriatric clinics, including an inpatient memory investigation unit (Study I), an outpatient investigation unit (Studies II and III) and two geriatric outpatient units (Study IV). Consequently, the participants were in an early or moderate stage of their illness progression. Since the intention was to capture the experiences at an early stage of dementia, this meant that not all participants had an established diagnosis at inclusion and that their diagnoses had to be obtained retrospectively after data collection. In Studies II-III, the probability of obtaining a dementia diagnosis guided inclusion, based on consultation with the medical team during the memory investigation. Eventually, all six participants in Studies II-III received the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. For the past ten years there has been an ongoing debate on the diagnosis of Mild Cognitive Impairment (Petersen et al., 2001; Winblad et al., 2004). At the time of Study I, this diagnosis was not used in practice and consequently, those participants who did not fulfill the criteria of dementia according to APA (1994) received the diagnoses of cognitive impairment or memory impairment in Study I. As the research in this

thesis focused on the experiences of cognitive impairment or dementia in daily occupations, which is an important issue for occupational therapists, an established diagnosis of dementia in participants was not prioritized. Even if receiving a diagnosis is of the outmost importance to the person who is experiencing the symptoms (Robinson, 2000), the consequences in everyday occupations of cognitive impairment or dementia still need to be approached and managed, the latter being of particular interest in these studies.

It is well known that dementia leads to changes in daily life occupations (APA, 2000; Nygård & Winblad, 2006). Hence, the studies set out to investigate how changes brought about by cognitive impairment or dementia were experienced from the perspective of those living with the changes. That was considered to be a fruitful way to capture the nature of these experiences. The method of repeated interviews in Studies II-III required participants who were able to share their experiences to some extent. However, it is not easy to judge the extent to which participants are willing or able to share their experiences in research interviews, particularly when they are afflicted with cognitive limitations (Hubbard et al., 2003). The participants in the studies for this thesis did share a surprising array of experiences. The fact that they were selected from investigation units where their difficulties were recognized could have contributed to this. As their perceived changes and symptoms had received attention during the investigation and they had been encouraged to talk about them, they understood why they were asked to participate in interviews and were responsive to the purpose of the studies. This circumstance may have assisted them in providing rich descriptions of their experiences.

In Studies II and III, the participants and interview data used were the same, while the analysis methods were based upon different approaches. This raises two questions. Firstly, to re-use the same set of data with another research question and another method of analysis could imply bias and an intrusive pre-understanding that could be difficult to bracket and disregard, which is considered important in phenomenological analysis (Karlsson, 1995). Certainly, this issue attracted attention and the pre-understanding was reflected on during all steps of the analysis process of Study III to prevent the findings from being influenced by the knowledge of former findings based on the data presented in Study II. On the other hand, without pre-understanding, there can be no new understanding (Ödman, 1994). In this case,

the analysis in Study II had evoked the interest in the participants' expressions of awareness, as this aspect showed in data. This led to the continued analysis in study III. Furthermore, time was an advantage in that the analyses in Studies II and III were carried out with a two-year interval, and the analysis of Study III was in fact conducted as a detached study.

The small number of participants in all of the studies may also be regarded as a limitation. However, Studies I-III used qualitative research methods on the basis of the research questions and scope. In qualitative research the aim is to increase the depth of understanding of what is studied by means of interviews, observations, and documents (Patton, 2002). In this research approach the unit of analysis is not the participants per se; but rather all pieces of data that show their experiences, opinions, feelings, and knowledge. Qualitative methods do not search for generalizations on statistical grounds. Rather, analytical generalization can be used, i.e. reflective judgments about the extent to which the findings in one study can be used as a guide to what might occur in other situations (Kvale, 1996). Consequently, the findings in Studies I-III can not be generalized to include all persons with cognitive impairment or dementia. Rather, the findings suggest a possible understanding of how everyday life occupations could be experienced, approached, and managed among these persons. The research approaches adopted in Studies I-III are in accordance with the recommendations made for this type of research (Kvale, 1996), as rich and reflective descriptions were obtained as required for validation of findings according to Bogdan and Biklen (1998), Kvale (1996), and Patton (1987, 2002).

Because of the small sample size in Study IV, especially concerning the different diagnostic groups, we used a nonparametric statistical method and the study should be regarded as a pilot study. However, this study provided important insight into the relationship between occupational performance and awareness of disability that could be applied in a larger sample size in forthcoming studies. In studies III and IV, the approach was to examine awareness from two different perspectives; by means of lived experiences and by assessment with commonly accepted method of measuring the discrepancy between the client's apprehended ability and the ratings from another respondent (Clare et al, 2005; Seiffer, Clare & Harvey, 2005). However, there are some questions about whether the latter approach captures a person's awareness of disability or if it measures his or hers perception of performance. To

clarify this, further research is needed. The results from Studies III and IV suggest that the information received through these different approaches may capture some of the complexity of awareness that may complement each other.

CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

The findings of this thesis have clinical implications, primarily concerning people with cognitive impairment or dementia in the early to moderate stage of the disease, who are still living in their homes after having received a diagnosis. They often receive their diagnosis and occasionally medications, but are left without professional specialists to turn to with their questions, as indicated by the participants during the data collection in these studies. Everyday life with dementia almost always involves other significant persons. Therefore it will be important to address the possible implementation of the findings of Studies I-IV in interventions including the caregivers, such as spouses and health care professionals in future studies.

Although special support may be lacking, the findings of this thesis have implications for how caregivers, occupational therapists and other professionals can contribute to the well-being and the maintenance of the everyday occupational life of these persons. The need for home interventions to support persons with dementia to continue to live at home for as long as this is meaningful to the person has been acknowledged in research (Gitlin et al; 2001; Vikström et al., submitted). The findings of the studies in this thesis can hopefully contribute to the development of such intervention programs by providing enhanced knowledge of issues such as the meaning of occupations and the characteristics of awareness as it may be expressed in daily life. In conclusion, some of the clinical implications of this thesis are:

As shown in Study I, cognitive impairments and dementia in people who still work influence the person, the co-workers and the family. In accordance with the finding of this thesis, several aspects have to be considered in planning future support for the individual, including the person's ability to work and his or her own experiences of the situation and wishes to continue, the possibilities of the workplace and employer to adapt and the length of the sick-leave.

- The findings from Studies I-II suggest that interventions supporting everyday occupations that have significant meaning to the individual might contribute to maintaining and fortifying the person's apprehensions of being a contributing person and reach beyond the traditional view of the person with dementia as a passive and receiving person.
- The findings from Studies I-III indicate that supporting everyday occupations that build on the resources of the person is suggested to improve the well-being of the person with dementia, including allowing and encouraging the person to give up occupations that are too demanding or that have lost their individual inherent meanings for the person.
- The findings from Study II particularly indicate that occupations with individual meaning have the potential to be used therapeutically in interventions as a means to provide opportunities to the person with dementia to experience competence, contentment, and enjoyment, and thus contribute to his or her well-being.
- Taken together, Studies III and IV showed that using both interviews of the persons' own accounts and assessments in examining awareness of disability might provide a broader base for interventions and provide a more comprehensive understanding of the nature and implications of awareness of disability in everyday life occupations.
- Overall, the findings from all four studies suggest that persons with dementia, although in a continuous process of change where their capabilities are constantly challenged, also have resources that are co-dependent on the environment as well as on the occupation they are engaged in. Their experiences are in part also dependent on the interaction established in these occupations. Caregivers, healthcare professionals and spouses have an important role in guiding and supporting the persons in this process by approaching them with an open mind to their resources and providing them with opportunities to express their evasive situation and to build interventions on individual assets.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are a number of people who have contributed to this thesis in various ways. I want to express my deepest gratitude to all of you.

First and foremost, I would like to express my great thanks to all persons with memory problems or dementia that I have met in practice. You awakened my interest in knowing more about what it means to live with dementia. Especially, I want to thank all persons that participated in my studies, and their families, for so generously sharing parts of their life worlds with me and my colleagues.

I also wish to thank:

Louise Nygård, my main supervisor and the lodestar for my navigation on the ocean of research. Thank you for your never-ending patience, wisdom and gentleness which have guided and supported me through this work for more than a decade. Thank you for always encouraging me and believing in that I could see this endeavour through. Without you this work would not have been possible.

Staffan Josephsson, my supervisor with the visionary and creative mind. Thank you for your refreshing thinking that led me in new directions and gave me strength to continue with this project.

Bengt Winblad, my supervisor, for giving me the opportunity to start my graduate studies and for always supporting and taking an interest in my work.

Lena Borell, my co-writer in the first study, for including me in the division of occupational therapy, and for our inspiring discussions. I also want to thank you for introducing me to Louise when I was an undergraduate.

Anders Kottorp, my supervisor and co-writer in the final study. You introduced me to the world of statistics and guided me in this endeavor with great expertise and patience when I needed it the most.

Kerstin Tham, our head of division, for your enthusiastic and supportive leadership. You have contributed to this study by sharing your precious time and knowledge of awareness.

All my dear *colleagues* and *fellow workers* at the Division of Occupational Therapy at KI and around the world. I wish I could name you all! Thank you for being such an inspiration and support during all aspect of writing this thesis and for including me in your fellowship. I'm very proud to be a part of it!

A special thanks to all PhD students at *Kreativa Konditoriet*, for taking part in inspiring discussions and taking time to work with my papers. To *Sofia V*, *Sofia S*, *Mandana*, *Helene* and *Ann-Helen*, who have been my room-mates at different times during these years, thank you for creating a pleasant atmosphere and for enduring my endless conversations in our room. A special thanks to my roommate *Maryanne* for helping me improve my English.

Agneta, Viveka, and Malin and your predecessors for all valuable administrative support and good talks.

Monika Samuelsson and all of the occupational therapists, past and present, at Karolinska University Hospital in Huddinge, were it all started. I also send my warm thoughts to all staff I met at the Department of Geriatrics during the years that I worked there.

Anna Oldebring, Annika Marcelius, and Monica Pantzar for your engagement in and contributions to the final study, and Lena Lahtinen for your positive attitude and stimulating discussions throughout this work.

Everyone at *Kompetenscentrum* in *Älvsjö*, for the years I was included in your work. I learned a lot about collaboration and implementation from you.

Ann Ödlund Olin and Anna Pettersson, my fellow PhD students, for our collaboration at KC, for your support, and for inviting me to stimulating lunch conversations.

All my family, especially *Lilly*, *Maria*, *Ulf* and *Ulla*, for loving support and always believing in me. A warm thought to *Ulf* and *Ulla* for practical support! I would also like to thank all my friends and relatives for your patience as I finished my research studies.

And finally, my dearest *Kalle*, my devoted husband, for your positive and supportive attitude, and always being there and taking care of me and our everyday family life. At last, the most important people in my life world, *Linnea* and *Valdemar*, our wonderful and loving children, for being who you are, and for always making me proud of being your life companion.

This research was supported by grants from Karolinska Institutet, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm County Council, the Solstickan Foundation, the Swedish Association of Occupational Therapists, the Gun and Bertil Stohne Foundation and the Swedish Dementia Association.

REFERENCES

Aalten, P., van Valen, E., Clare, L., Kenny, G., & Verhey, F. (2005). Awareness in dementia: A review of clinical correlates. *Aging & Mental Health*, *9*, 414-422.

Aalten, P., van Valen, E., de Vugt, M., Lousberg, R., Jolles, J., & Verhey, F.R.J. (2006). Awareness and behavioral problems in dementia patients: A prospective study. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *18*, (1), 3-17.

Agüero-Torres, H., Fratiglioni, L., & Winblad, B. (1998). Natural history of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias: Review of the literature in the light of the findings from the Kungsholmen project. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 13, 755-766.

Alzheimer's Association. (2004). Research consent for cognitively impaired adults. Recommendations for institutional review boards and investigators. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders*, 18, (3), 171-175.

American Occupational Therapy Association. (1994). Statement: Occupational Therapy services for persons with Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 48, 1029-1031.

American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.

Arkin, S., & Mahendra, N. (2001). Insight in Alzheimer's patients: Results of a longitudinal study using assessment methods. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias, 16*, 211-224.

Artero, S., Petersen, R., Touchon, J., & Ritchie, K. (2006). Revised criteria for mild cognitive impairment: validation within a longitudinal population study. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 22, 465-470.

Bamford, C., & Bruce, E. (2000). Defining outcomes of community care: The perspective of older people with dementia and their carers. *Ageing and Society*, 20, 543-570.

Baum, C., & Edwards, D.F. (2003). What persons with Alzheimer's disease can do: A tool for communication about everyday activities. *Alzheimer's Care Quarterly*, *4*, 108-118.

Beard, R.L. (2004). In their voices: Identity preservation and experiences of Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Aging Studies*, 18, 415-428.

Beattie, A.M., Daker-White, G., Gilliard, J., & Means, R. (2002). Younger people in dementia care: a review of service needs, service provision and models of good practice. *Aging & Mental Health*, *6*(3), 205-212.

Bengtsson, J. (2001). Sammanflätningar [in Swedish]. Göteborg: Daidalos AB.

Bogdan, R., & Biklen, S. (1998). *Qualitative research for education: an introduction to theory and methods.* Boston: Allyn & Bacon.

Bond, J. & Corner, L. (2001). Researching dementia: are the unique methodological challenges for health service research? *Ageing and Society*, 21, 95-116.

Bond, T.G., & Fox, C.M. (2001). Applying the Rasch model: fundamental measurement in the human sciences. Mahwah. NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Brooker, D., & Duce, L. (2000). Wellbeing and activity in dementia: A comparison of group reminiscence therapy, structured goal-directed group activity and unstructured time. *Aging & Mental Health*, *4*, 354-358.

Bryden, C. (2005). Dancing with dementia. Philadelphia: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

Buettner, L. & Kolanowski, A. (2003). Practice guidelines for recreation therapy in the care of people with dementia. *Geriatric Nursing*, 24 (1), 18-25.

Chappell, N.L., & R.C. Reid, (2002). Burden and well-being among caregivers: Examining the distinction. *Gerontologist*, 42 (6), 772-780.

Christiansen, C., & Baum, C. (1997). Understanding occupation. Definitions and concepts. In C. Christiansen & C. Baum (Eds.), *Occupational therapy: Enabling, function and well-being* (pp.3-26). Thorofare: Slack Inc.

Christiansen, C.H., Clark, F.A., Kielhofner, G., & Rogers, J. (1995). Position paper: Occupation. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 49, 1015-1018.

Christiansen, C., & Townsend, E. (2004). An introduction to occupation. In C. Christiansen & E.Townsend (Eds.), *Introduction to occupation: The art and science of living*. (pp.21-7). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Clare, L. (2003). Managing threats to self: awareness in early stage Alzheimer's disease. *Social Science & Medicine*, *57*, 1017-1029.

Clare, L., Goater, T., & Woods, B. (2006). Illness representations in early-stage dementia: a preliminary investigation. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 21, 761-767.

Clare, L., Marková, I., Verhey, F., & Kenny, G. (2005). Awareness in dementia: A review of assessment methods and measures. *Aging & Mental Health*, *5*, 395-413.

Clare, L., Wilson, B.A., Carter, G., Roth, I., & Hodges, J.R. (2004). Awareness in early-stage Alzheimer's disease: Relationship to outcome of cognitive rehabilitation. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 26 (2), 215-226.

Computer Adaptive Technologies & Fisher, A.G. (1994-1996). *AMPS computer-scoring program* (Version 1). Chicago: Computer Adaptive Technologies.

Corcoran, M.A., Gitlin, L.N., Levy, L, Eckhardt, S., Vause Earland, T., Shaw, G., & Kearny, P. (2002). An occupational therapy home-based intervention to address dementia-related problems identified by family caregivers. *Alzheimer's Care Quarterly*, *3*(1), 82-90.

Cotrell, V. (1997). Awareness deficits in Alzheimer's disease: Issues in assessment and intervention. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 16, 71-90.

Cotrell, V., & Schulz, R. (1993). The perspective of the patient with Alzheimer's disease: a neglected dimension of dementia research. *The Gerontologist*, *33*,204-211.

Crum, R.M., Anthony, J.C., Bassett, S.S., & Folstein, M.F. (1993). Population-based norms for the Mini-Mental State Examination by age and education level. *JAMA*, 269, 2386-2391.

Cummings, J.L. (2003). The impact of depressive symptoms on patients with Alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders*. 17, 61-62.

Cummings, J.L., & Cole, G. (2002). Alzheimer disease. JAMA, 287, 2335-2338.

Dahlberg, K., Drew, N., & Nyström, M. (2001). Reflective lifeworld research. Lund: Studentlitteratur.

Derouesné, C., Thibault, S., Lagha-Pierucci, S., Baudouin-Madec, V., Ancri, D., & Lacomblez, L. (1999). Decreased awareness of cognitive deficits in patients with mild dementia of the Alzheimer type. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 14, 1090-1030.

Dewing, J. (2002). From ritual to relationship. A person-centred approach to consent in qualitative research with older people who have a dementia. *Dementia*, 1, 157-171.

Doble, S., Fisk, J.D., & Rockwood, K. (1999). Assessing the ADL functioning of persons with Alzheimer's disease: Comparision of family informants' ratings and performance-based assessment findings. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 11, 399-409.

Dooley, N.R., & Hinojosa, J. (2004). Improving quality of life for persons with Alzheimer's disease and their family caregivers: Brief Occupational Therapy Intervention. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 58, 561-569.

Downs, M. (1997). Progress report: The emergence of the person in dementia research. *Ageing and Society*, 17, 597-607.

Feher, E.P., Mahurin, R.K., Inbody, S.B., Crook, T.H., & Pirozzolo, F.J. (1991). Anosognosia in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychiatry*, *Neuropsychology*, and *Behavioral Neurology*, 4, 136-146.

Fisher, A.G. (1997). *Assessment of Motor and Process Skills* (2nd ed). Test manual. Department of Occupational Therapy, Colorado State University. Fort Collins, CO: Three Star Press.

Fisher, A.G. (2006a). Assessment of Motor and Process Skills Volume 1: Development, standardization, and administration manual (7th ed.). Fort Collins. CO: Three Star Press.

Fisher, A.G. (2006b). Assessment of Motor and Process Skills Volume 2: User manual (7th ed.). Fort Collins, CO: Three Star Press.

Folstein, M.F., Folstein, S.E., & McHugh, P.R. (1975). "Mini Mental State". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 12, 189-198.

Friel-McGowin, D.F. (1993). Living in the labyrinth: A personal journey through the maze of Alzheimer's. San Francisco: Elder.

Gard, G., & Sandberg, A.C. (1998). Motivating factors for return to work. *Physiotherapy Research International*, 3(2), 100-108.

Gillies, B.A, (2000). A memory like clockwork: accounts of living through dementia. *Aging & Mental Health*. 4, 366-374.

- Gillies, B.A. (2001). Letter to the editor: The experience of living through dementia. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 16, 111-112.
- Gitlin, L.N., Corcoran, M., Winter, L., Boyce, A., & Hauck, W.W. (2001). A randomized, controlled trial of a home environmental intervention: effect of efficacy and upset in caregivers and on daily function of persons with dementia. *The Gerontologist*, 41, 4-14.
- Gitlin, L.N., Winter, L., Dennis, M.P., Corcoran, M., Schinfeld, S., & Hauck, W.W. (2002). Strategies used by families to simplify tasks for individuals with Alzheimer's disease and related disorders: Psychometric analysis of the Task Management Strategy Index (TSMI). *The Gerontologist*, 42, 61-69.
- Gori, G., Pietini, S., & Vespa, A. (2001). The selection of meaningful activities as a treatment for day-care in dementia. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 33 (Suppl.1), 207-212.
- Graff, M.J.L., Vernooij-Dassen, M.J.F.J., Hoefnagels, W.H.L., Dekker, J. & Witte, de L.P. (2003). Occupational therapy at home for older individuals with mild to moderate cognitive impairments and their primary caregivers: A pilot study. *OTJR: Occupation, Participation and Health, 23* (4), 155-163.
- Graff, M.J.L., Vernooij-Dassen, M.J.M., Thijssen, M., Dekker, J., Hoefnagels, W.H.L., & Olde Rikkert, M.G.M. (2006a). Community based occupational therapy for patients with dementia and their care givers: Randomised controlled trial. *BMJ*, 333 (7580), 1196-1199.
- Graff, M.J.L., Vernooij-Dassen, M.J.M., Zajec, J., Olde Rikkert, M.G.M., Hoefnagels, W.H.L., & Dekker, J. (2006b). How can occupational therapy improve the daily performance and communication of an older patient with dementia and his primary caregiver? *Dementia*, 5 (4), 503-532.
- Graham, D.P., Kunik, M.E., Doody, R., & Snow, A.L. (2005). Self-reported awareness in performance in dementia. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 25, 144-152.
- Griffith, H.R., Belue, K., Sicola, A., Krzywanski, S., Zamrini, E., Harrell, L., & Marson, D.C. (2003). Impaired financial abilities in mild cognitive impairment. *Neurology*, 60, 449-457.
- Grossman, H., Bergmann, C., & Parker, S. (2006). Dementia: a brief review. *The Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine*, 73, 985-992.
- Gräsel, E., Wiltfang, J., & Kornhuber, J. (2003). Non-drug therapies for dementia: An overview of the current situation with regard to proof of effectiveness. *Dementia and Geriatric Disorders*, *15*, 115-125.
- Gustavsson, A. (1996). *Att förstå människor tillämpning av den formella datastrukturanalysen* (Understanding human beings application of formal data structure analysis). University of Stockholm, Sweden: Department of Education.
- Hasselkus, B.R. (2002). The meaning of everyday occupation. Thorofare, NJ: SLACK Incorporated.
- Hasselkus, B.R. & Rosa, S.A. (1997). Meaning and occupation. In Cristiansen, C. & Baum, C. *Occupational therapy: Enabling function and well-being* (2nd ed). (pp. 363-377). Thorofare: SLACK Incorporated.
- Hartman, M.L., Fisher, A.G., & Duran, L. (1999). Assessment of functional ability of people with Alzheimer's disease. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *6*, 111-118.

Hellström, I., Nolan, M., & Lundh, U. (2005). Awareness context theory and the dynamics of dementia. Improving understanding using emergent fit. *Dementia*, 4, 269-295.

Howorth, P., & Saper, J. (2003). The dimensions of insight in people with dementia. *Aging & Mental Health*, 7 (2), 113-122.

Hubbard, G., Downs, M.G., & Tester, S. (2003). Including older people with dementiain research: Challenges and strategies. *Aging & Mental Health*, 7(5), 351-362.

Hughes, J.L., Louw, S.J. & Sabat, S.R. (2006). *Dementia. Mind, meaning and the person*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Husband, H.J. (2000). Diagnostic disclosure in dementia: An opportunity for intervention? *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 15, 544-547.

Husserl, E. (1970/1900-01). Logical investigations. New York: Humanities Press.

Hällgren, M., & Kottorp, A. (2005). Effects of occupational therapy intervention on activities of daily living and awareness of disability in persons with intellectual disabilities. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, *52*, 350-359.

Johansson, U., & Tham, K. (2006). The meaning of work after acquired brain injury. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 60 (1), 60-69.

Jonsson, H., Josephsson, S., & Kielhofner, G. (2001). Narratives and experience in an occupational transition: A longitudinal study of the retirement process. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 55 (4), 424-432.

Josephsson, S. (1994). *Everyday activities as meeting-places*. Doctoral dissertation. Department of Clinical Neuroscience and Family Medicine, Section of Geriatric Medicine, Karolinska Institute and Section of Psychology, Stockholm Gerontology Research Centre, Stockholm.

Josephsson, S., Bäckman, L., Borell, L., & Bernspång, B. (1995). Effectiveness of an intervention to improve occupational performance in dementia. *Occupational Therapy Journal of Research*, 1, 36-49.

Josephsson, S., Bäckman, L., Nygård, L., & Borell, L. (2000). Non-professional caregivers' experience of occupational performance on the part of relatives with dementia: Implications for caregiver program in occupational therapy. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 7, 61-66.

Karlsson, G. (1995). *Psychological qualitative research from a phenomenological perspective* (2nd ed.). Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell.

Karp, A., Paillard-Borg, S., Wang, H-W., Silverstein, M., Winblad, B., & Fratiglioni, L. (2006). Mental, physical and social components in leisure activities equally contribute to decrease dementia risk. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 21, 65-73.

Kasl-Godley, J., & Gatz, M. (2000). Psychosocial interventions for individuals with dementia: An integration of theory, therapy, and a clinical understanding of dementia. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 20 (6), 755-782.

Katsuno, T. (2005). Dementia from the inside: how people with early-stage dementia evaluate their quality of life. *Ageing & Society*, 25, 197-214.

Katz, N., & Hartman-Maeir, A. (1997). Occupational performance and metacognition. *Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 64, 53-62.

Kawas, C.H. (2003). Early Alzheimer's disease. New English Journal of Medicine, 349, 1956-1063.

Kazui, H., Hirono, N., Hashimoto, M., Nakamo, Y., Matsumoto, K., Takatsuki, Y., Mori, E., Ikejiri, Y., & Takeda, M. (2006). Symptoms underlying unawareness of memory impairment in patients with mild Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*, 19 (1), 3-12.

Kielhofner, G. (1995). Change making: principles of therapeutic intervention. In G. Kielhofner (ed.), *A model of human occupation. Theory and application* (2nd ed) (pp.251-270). Baltimore, MD: Lippincot, Williams& Wilkins

Kielhofner, G. (2002). *A model of human occupation. Theory and application* (3rd ed). Baltimore, MD: Lippincot, Williams& Wilkins.

Kim, S.Y.H., Karlawish, J.H.T., & Caine, E.D. (2002). Current state of research on decision-making competence of cognitively impaired elderly persons. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 10 (2), 151-165.

Kitwood, T. (1997a). *Dementia reconsidered: the person comes first*. Philadelphia: Open University Press.

Kitwood, T. (1997b). The experience of dementia. Aging & Mental Health, 1, 13-22.

Kottorp, A. (2006). Assessment of Awareness of Disability: Development, Administration, and Interpretation. Stockholm: Karolinska Institutet, Department of Neurobiology, Care sciences and Society, Division of Occupational Therapy.

Kottorp, A., Hällgren, M., Bernspång, B., & Fisher, A.G. (2003). Client-centred occupational therapy for persons with mental retardation: Implementation of an intervention program in activities of daily living tasks. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 10, 51-60.

Kvale, S. (1996). InterViews. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Langdon, S.A., Eagle, A., & Warner, J. (2006). Making sense of dementia in the social world: A qualitative study. *Social Science & Medicine*, 64 (4), 989-1000.

Law, M., & Baum, C. (2005). Measurement in occupational therapy. In M. Law, C. Baum & W. Dunn (Eds.), *Measuring occupational performance. Supporting best practice in occupational therapy* (2nd ed.) (pp.3-20). Thorofare, Slack Incorporated.

Law, M., Polatajko, H., Baptiste, S., & Townsend, E. (1997). Core concepts of Occupational Therapy. In Canadian Association of Occupational Therapsists, *Enabling occupation: An occupational therapy perspective* (rev.) (pp. 29-56). Ottawa, ON: CAOT Publications ACE.

Leifer, B.P. (2003). Early diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: clinical and economic benefits. *Journal of American Geriatric Society*, *51* (Suppl.), 281-288.

Linacre, J.M. (2005). Winsteps Rasch Model computer program. Winsteps.com, Chicago.

Lyman, K. (1989). Bringing the social back in: a critique of the biomedicalization of dementia. *The Gerontologist*, 29, 597-605.

MacQuarrie, C.R. (2005). Experiences in early stage Alzheimer's disease: understanding the paradox of acceptance and denial. *Aging & Mental Health*, *9*, 430-441.

Marková, I.S., & Berrios, G.E. (2006). Approaches to the assessment of awareness: Conceptual issues. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 16 (4), 439-455.

Marková, I.S., Clare, L., Wang, M., Romero, B., & Kenny, G. (2005). Awareness in dementia: Conceptual issues. *Aging & Mental Health*, *5*, 386-393.

Marshall, M.J., & Hutchinson, S.A. (2001). A critique of research on the use of activities with persons with Alzheimer's disease: A systematic review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 35, 488-496.

McKhann, G., Drachman, D., Folstein, M., Katzman, R., Price, D., & Stadlan, EM. (1984). Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: Report of NINCDS-ADRDA Work Group under the auspices of Department of Health and Human Services Task Force on Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, *34*:939-944.

Merritt, B.K., & Fisher, A.G. (2003). Gender differences in the performance of activities of daily living. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 84, 1872-1877.

Miller, P.A., & Butin, D. The role of occupational therapy in dementia – C.O.P.E. (Caregivers Options for Practical Experiences). *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 15, 86-89.

Mohs, R.C. (2005). The clinical syndrome of Alzheimer's disease: Aspects particularly relevant to clinical trials. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 4, 129-133.

Mullen, R., Howard, R., David, A., & Levy, R. (1996). Insight in Alzheimer's disease. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 11, 645-651.

Nolan, M., Grant, G. & Nolan, J. (1995). Busy doing nothing: Activity and interaction levels amongst differing populations of elderly patients. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 22, 528-538.

Norberg, A. (2004). Editorial comment: Performing research with people who are not capable of giving their informed consent to research is sometimes justified. *Nursing Ethics*, 11(3), 225-226.

Nygård, L. (2003). Instrumental activities of daily living: a stepping-stone towards Alzheimer's disease diagnosis in subjects with mild cognitive impairment? *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 107 (Suppl. 179), 42-46.

Nygård, L. (2006). How can we get access to the experiences of people with dementia? *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 13, 101-112.

Nygård, L., Bernspång, B., Fisher, A.G., & Winblad, B. (1994). Comparing motor and process ability of persons with suspected dementia in home and clinic settings. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 48, 689-696.

Nygård, L., & Borell. L. (1998). A life-world of altering meaning: Expressions of the illness experience of dementia in everyday life over 3 years. *Occupational Therapy Journal of Research*, 18 (2), 109-136.

Nygård, L., Borell, L., & Gustavsson, A. (1995). Managing images of occupational self in early stage dementia. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *2*, 129-137.

- Nygård, L., & Starkhammar, S. (2003). Telephone use among noninstitutionalized persons with dementia living alone: Mapping out difficulties and response strategies. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 17, 239-249.
- Nygård, L., & Winblad, B. (2006). Measuring long term effects and changes in the daily activities of people with dementia. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 10*, 137-138.
- Oakley, F., & Sunderland, T. (1997). Assessment of motor and process skills as a measure of IADL functioning in pharmacologic studies of people with Alzheimer's disease: a pilot study. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *9*, 197-205.
- Oakley, F., Duran, L., Fisher, A., & Merritt, B. (2003).Differences in activities of daily living motor skills of persons with and without Alzheimer's disease. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, *50*, 72-78.
- Onor, M.L., Trevisol, M., Negro, C., & Aguglia, E. (2006). Different perception of cognitive impairment, behavioral disturbances, and functional disabilities between persons with mild cognitive impairment and mild Alzheimer's disease and their caregivers. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease & Other Dementias*, 21, 333-338.
- Ottenbacher, K.J., & Christiansen, C. (1997). Occupational performance assessments. In C. Christiansen & C. Baum (Eds.), *Occupational therapy: Enabling, function and well-being* (pp.104-135). Thorofare: Slack Inc.
- Overshott, R., & Burns, A. (2005). Treatment of dementia. *Journal of Neurological Neurosurgical Psychiatry*, 76 (Suppl. V), 53-59.
- Patton, M.Q. (1987). How to use qualitative methods in evaluation. London: Sage Publications.
- Patton, M.Q. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluations methods* (3rd ed). London: Sage Publications.
- Pearce, A., Clare, L., & Pistrang, N. (2002). Managing sense of self. Coping in the early stages of Alzheimer's disease. *Dementia*, 1, 173-192.
- Pérès, K., Chrysostome, V., Fabrigoule, C., Orgogozo, J.M., Dartigues, J.F., & Barberger-Gateau, P. (2006). Restriction in complex activities of daily living in MCI. *Neurology*, *67*, 461-466.
- Perneczky, R., Pohl, C., Sorg, C., Hartman, J., Komossa, K., Alexopoulos, P., Wagenpfeil, S., & Kurz, A. (2006a). Complex activities of daily living in mild cognitive impairment: conceptual and diagnostic issues. *Age and Ageing*, *35*, 240-245.
- Perneczky, R., Pohl, C., Sorg, C., Hartmann, J. Tosic, N., Grimmer, T., Heitele, S., & Kurz, A. (2006b). Impairment of activities of daily living requiring memory or complex reasoning as part of the MCI syndrome. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 21, 158-162.
- Petersen, R.C., Doody, R., Kurz, A., Mohs, R.C., Morris, J.C., Rabins, P.V., Ritchie, K., Rossor, M., Thal, L., & Winblad, B. (2001). Current concepts in mild cognitive impairment. *Archives of Neurology*, *58*, 1985-1992.

Piškur, B., Kinebanian, A. & Josephsson, S. (2002). Occupation and well-being: a study of some Slovenian people's experiences of engagement in occupation in relation to well-being. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *9*, 63-70.

Phinney, A. (2002). Fluctuating awareness and the breakdown of the illness narrative in dementia. *Dementia*, 1(3), 329-344.

Phinney, A., Wallhagen, M., & Sands, L.P. (2002). Exploring the meaning of symptom awareness and unawareness in dementia. *Journal of Neuroscience Nursing*, 34 (2), 79-90.

Polit, D.F., & Beck, C.T. (2004). *Nursing research: principles and methods (7th ed)*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

Port, A., Willmott, C., & Charlton, J. (2002). Self-awareness following traumatic brain injury and implications for rehabilitation. *Brain Injury*, 16, 277-289.

Prigatano, G.P. (1997). Learning from our successes and failures: Reflections and comments on "Cognitive Rehabilitation: How it is and how it might be". *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *3*, 479-499.

Pulsford, D. (1997). Therapeutic activities for people with dementia – what, why... and why not? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 26, 704-709.

Radley, A. (1994). Making sense of illness: The social psychology of health and disease. Thousand Oaks: Slack Inc.

Reed, J., Cantley, C., Clarke, C.L., & Stanley, S. (2002). Services for younger people with dementia. Problems with differentiating needs on the basis of age. *Dementia*, *1*(1), 95-112.

Reed, B.R., Jagust, W.J., & Seab, J.P. (1989). Mental status as a predictor of daily functioning in progressive dementia. *Gerontologist*, 29 (6), 804-807.

Ritchie, K., & Lovestone, S. (2002). The dementias. Lancet, 360, 1759-1766.

Robinson, P. (2000). Younger persons with suspected and early stage dementia: Their experiences, concerns and need for support. Licentiate dissertation, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden.

Robinson, P., Ekman, S-L., Meleis, A. I., Winblad, G., & Wahlund, L-O. (1997). Suffering in silence: The experience of early memory loss. *Health Care in Later Life*, *2*, 107-120.

Robinson, S., & Fisher, A. (1996). A study to examine the relationship of the Assessment of Motor and Process Skills (AMPS) to other tests of cognition and function. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *59*, 260-263.

Robinson, S.E., & Fisher, A.G. (1999). Functional and cognitive differences between cognitively-well people and people with dementia. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 62*, 466-471.

Sabat, S.R. (2001). The experience of Alzheimer's disease. Life through a tangled veil. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers Ltd.

Sabat, S. (2003). Some potential benefits of creating research partnership with people with Alzheimer's disease. *Research Policy and Planning*, 21 (2), 5-12.

Sabat, S.R., & Harré, R. (1992). The construction and deconstruction of self in Alzheimer's disease. *Ageing and Society*, 12, 443-461.

Scarmeas, N., Levy, G., Tang, M-X, Manly, J., & Stern, Y. (2001). Influence of leisure activity on the incidence of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, *57*, 2236-2242.

Seidler, A., Nienhaus, A., Bernhardt, T., Kauppinen, T., Elo, A-L., & Frölich, L. (2004). Psychosocial work factors and dementia. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 61, 962-971.

Seiffer, A., Clare, L., & Harvey, R. (2005). The role of personality and coping style in relation to awareness of current functioning in early-stage dementia. *Aging & Mental Health*, 9(6), 535-541.

Smyth, K.A., Neundorfer, M.M., Koss, E., Geldmacher, D.S., Ogrocki, P.K., & Whitehouse, P.J. (2002). Quality of life and deficit identification in dementia. *Dementia*, *1*, 345-358.

Socialdepartementet. (2003). På väg mot en god demensvård. Samhällets insatser för personer med demenssjukdom och deras anhöriga. Ds 2003:47. [in Swedish].

Steultjens, E.M.J., Dekker, J., Bouter, L.M., Jellema, S., Bakker, E.B., & van den Ende, C.H.M. (2004). Occupational therapy for community dwelling elderly people: A systematic review. *Age and Ageing*, *33*, 453-460.

Tham, K., Bernspång, B., & Fisher, A.G. (1999). Development of Assessment of Awareness of Disability. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *6*, 184-190.

Tham, K., Ginsburg, E., Fisher, A.G., & Tegnér, R. (2001). Training to improve awareness of disabilities in clients with unilateral neglect. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *55*, 46-54.

Tindall, L., & Manthorpe, J. (1997). Early onset dementia: A case of ill-timing? *Journal of Mental Health*, 6 (3), 237-249.

Tuokko, H., Morris, C., & Ebert, P. (2005). Mild cognitive impairment and everyday functioning in older adults. *Neurocase*, 11, 40-47.

Velozo, C., Kielhofner, G., & Fisher, G. (1999). A user's guide to the Worker Role Interview. Research version. Department of Occupational Therapy. University of Illinois.

Verghese, J., Lipton, R.B., Katz, M.J., Hall, C.B., Derby, C.A., Kuslansky, G., Ambrose, A.F., Sliwinski, M., & Buschke, H. (2003). Leisure activities and the risk of dementia in the elderly. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 348 (25), 2508-2516.

Vikström, S., Borell, L., Stigsdotter-Neely, A., & Josephsson, S. (2005). Caregivers' self-initiated support toward their partners with dementia when performing everyday occupations together at home. *OTJR: Occupation, Participation and Health, 25* (4), 149-159.

Vikström, S., Josephsson, S., Stigsdotter-Neely, A., & Nygård, L. Engagement in occupations: Experiences of persons with dementia and their caregiving spouses. Submitted.

Visser, P.J., Kester, A., Jolles, J., & Verhey, F. (2006). Ten-year risk in dementia in subjects with mild cognitive impairment. *Neurology*, 67, 1201-1207.

Vogel, A., Stokholm, J., Gade, A., Andersen, B.B., Hejl, A-M., & Waldemar, G. (2004). Awareness of deficits in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: Do MCI patients have impaired insight? *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 17, 181-187.

Waldemar, G., Phung, K.T.T., Burns, A., Georges, J., Hansen, F.R., Iliffe, S., Marking, C., Rikkert, M.O., Selmes, J., Stoppe, G., & Sartorius, N. (2007). Access to diagnostic evaluation and treatment for dementia in Europe. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 22, 47-54.

Wild, K., & Cotrell, V. (2003). Identifying driving impairment in Alzheimer disease: a comparision of self and observer reports versus driving evaluation. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders*, 17, 27-34.

Wimo, A., Jonsson, L., & Winblad, B. (2006). An estimate of the worldwide prevalence and direct costs of dementia. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 21, 175-181.

Wimo, A., Winblad, B., Aguero-Torres, A., & von Strauss, E. (2003). The magnitude of dementia occurrence in the world. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders*, 17 (2), 63-67.

Winblad, B., Palmer, K., Kivipelto, M., Jelic, V., Fratiglioni, L., Wahlund, L-O., Nordberg, A., Bäckman, L., Albert, M., Almkvist, O., Arai, H., Basun, H., Blennow, K., De Leon, M., Decarli, C., Erkinjuntti, O., Giacobini, E., Graff, C., Hardy, J., Jack, C., Jorm, A., Ritchie, K., Van Duijn, C., Visser, P., & Petersen, R.C. (2004). Mild cognitive impairment – beyond controversies, towards a consensus: Report of the International Working Group on Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 256, 240-246.

Wlodarczyk, J.H., Brodaty, H., & Hawthorne, G. (2004). The relationship between quality of life, Mini-Mental State Examination, and the Instrumental Activities of Daily Living in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 39, 25-33.

Woods, B. (1999). Promoting well-being and independence for people with dementia. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 14, 97-109.

Woods, R.T. (2001). Discovering the person with Alzheimer's disease: cognitive, emotional and behavioural aspects. *Aging & Mental Health, 5 (Suppl. 1),* 7-16. World Health Organization. (1993). ICD-10: Classification of mental and behavioural disorders: Clinical and diagnostic guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization.

Yaffe, K. (2005). Research and care of patients with dementia. Moving beyond memory loss. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 13, 921-925.

Zank, S., & Leipold, B. (2001). The relationship between severity of dementia and subjective well-being. *Aging & Mental Health*, 5 (2), 191-196.

Ödman, P.-J. (1994). *Tolkning, förståelse, vetande. Hermeneutik i teori och praktik* (Interpretation, understanding, knowledge. Hermeneutics in theory and application). Stockholm: Norstedts.